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NOTES 
Concerning 1‘]: e K ellogg: 

Heeldeburg, Ceiii. 
Nov. 17.. 1918. 

Mre. E. E. Kellogg. 
Bettie Crieek, Michigan. 

Deer Sieter: 
Your letterofNov.3eehingmetoteiiyoueome- 

thing of the childhood life of your huebend end of the 
home in which he wee born, and ite eurroundinge, 
me to hand in due time. 

I regret being unable to tell you much eoneerning 
theehfldhoodofmybrotherJobneeImerried when 
hewee onlytwoyeere old end Ieewbutlittleofhim 
thereafter. 

John wee born February 26. 1352, in Tyrone. 
Livingeton Co... Michigan. 

Tyrone wee e townebip ell miloe square. Every 
reeident of the townehip wee wed  in farming, 
althoughefewofthemhedtredeeetwbichthey 
worked e1: odd timee. There wee not e village, nor 
even e. email hamlet in the townehip. Neither wee 
there e ehureh building. e meeting houee. nor even In. 
public hell within the limite of Tyrone. There were 
leeetbeneixtyfemilieelivinginthetownehip etthe 
time of the birth of John. There were at that time 
only No school houeee in the townehip, both of which 
were mine buildinge, although neeriy every family 
lived in e emeii log houee. 

Father wee more fortunate, beeeuee more thrfity 
and industrioue then meet of the reeidente. He wee 
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NOTES CONCERNING THE KEILOGGB 

thenoutofdehtandowned 160 aeresoillandofwhieh 
102 acres were cleared of! and well under eultivation. 
He had horse teams auficient to work the plane 
andhaultheeropstomarket. Healsohadlfiflflne 
wool sheep, eowa enough to provide the family with 
milk, eream and butter, chickens enough for table use 
and for eggs. There was a fine apple orchard, yield- 
ing yearly one or two hundred bushels of apples of 
manyvarietiea. Alsospeschorchard whiehinagood 
.vear yielded from twenty-five to forty bushels of fine 
peaches of several varieties. There were also plenty 
of red currents and also some gooseherries. 

The vegetable garden supplied all needed in that 
line. 

The farm supplied us with wheat, eorn, buck- 
wheat and rye, mutton, fowls, eggs, milk, cream and 
butter and as mother was a good cook, we fared well. 

Our winter clothes were all made from our home 
grown wool which mother, with a little help, spun into 
yarn, wove into cloth and made up for us. 

There were two very small hamlets in an adjoin- 
ingtownshipineaehofwhichtherewasastoreo! 
general merchandise, a flouring mill, etc. One of mane 
was mo miles distant, the other three and one-half 
miles distant. Fentonvilie, a thriving village, was 
seven miles distant. Milford, another small village, 
was twelve miles distant. Howell, the oounty seat, 
was twelve miles distant. Flint, the next nearest. 
twenty-two mil-I awayr and Pontiac, the next, twenty- 
flve miles. 

You can see by the foregoing, that John was born 
in a really rural district. Father had owned and HM 
on the above described farm for eight years prior to 
the birth of John. 

[ 4 ]  
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NflTES CONCERNING THE KELLOGGS 

There was an unfinished frame house on the farm. 
It was about 20:23 feet on the ground. was 1% stories. 
had a large living room. parlor, two bedrooms and 
pantry on first floor, two large chambers upstairs and 
a dollar six feet deep under the whole house. Father 
had the house finished, plastered and painted, and a 
large kitchen and woodhouse built on as an extension. 
Awell'f'i’feetdeepgayensanabundaneeofgoodeold 
water for drinking and seeking, while a eistern caught 
the water from the roof for washing purposes. This 
heme was eomfoitahle and pleasant. 

I can remember but two incidents in John's child- 
hood life that made any lasting impression on my 
mind. These both eeenrred early in his fourth year. 1!. 

I called at father' a one day. and while there Jenna} uni-i1. -.. an, 
did something whieh his mother had forbidden. She ~ 
called him to her, explained to him the wrongfuliiess 
of his act, then asked him if he did not know that it 
was wrong to do such things. 

Looking up to her very demurely he replied, “Yes. 
Mother. I knew that it is wrong." 

“Then what makes you do it?" 
He did not reply readily. so she W the ques- 

tion. By this time he had his answer thought out, and 
apealdng. as well as looking very grave. he said. 
l l s n m fl '  

Shethl l talkedtohimoftheimportaneeof  
watching against Satan’s temptations, told him he 
must resist his tommations. John went and sat down 
alone and philosophimd on the matter. Aftdr studying 
a while. he eame back to his mother and said, "Mother, 
I wish God would hill Satan." He seemed to reason 
thatwithSatanoutofthewayheweuldneyerbe 
tomlited to do wrong. 

[ 5 1  
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NOTES CONCERNING THE KELLO'GGS- 

A few days later I called at father's and we had 
to go downtown to finish our business. John asked 
permission to go along. His father said he might if. 
he could keep up. “I will keep up." he said. and in- 
stead of following" behind he ran on ahead. He had to 
run to keep ahead for we walked rapidly. Presently 
he fell flat on his stomach. He fell hard and I was 
sure he was hurt, but before I could get to him to 
help him up, he was up and faced about; brushing the 
dust from his clothes. he said. “I did that on purpose." 

I was impressed by the first incident that he would 
become a leader and something of a philosopher in 
time. and by the second incident that he would turn 
apparent defeats into victories. 

When John was two years old father quit farm- 
ing and moved into Jackson City and engaged in 
broom mafing and two years later he moved to Esme 
Greek. 

I do not know if John ever attended public school. 
I think that his early education was obtained in a pri- 
vate school taught by Professor Bell. Fletcher Bying- 
ton taught a private school in the winter of 1353-9. 
and it is possible that John attended it. I came to 
California in 1359 and so lost all run of the family 
until my return in 1867. 

I wish I could tell you more of John. I will send 
you in a few days a brief sketch of his father’s and his 
mother’s life, which will enable you to understand the 
source from which his love i or the unfortunate. me 
needy. his perseverance. his love for hard work, his 
energy and push came from. 

[El 
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NGTEB CONCERNING THE EELLOGGS 

With the snoop tion of a bronchial catarrh. I am 
in fairly good health for a person of my age. The 
23th of next March. if I live. I shall be 32. 

Yours truly. - 
M. G. KELLDGG. 

Healdshurg. Calif. 
Sept. 2. 1915. 

J. H. Kellogg. Md)... 
Battle Creek, Michigan. 

Dear Brother John: 
Your very interesting communication. of date 

Aug. 23. is at hand. I thank you for the advice you 
gave me concerning the use of Paraffin. and shall fol- 
low it. It is doing wonders for me. and is helping 
Mrs. Nolan. who is also using it. 

I thank you for sending me your translation of 
the Frenchman’s trip from Pontiac to Flint river in 
1331. He only had a foot trail to follow. Father fol- 
lowed a wagon read when he passed through the same 
wild region in 1334. when he settled on government 
land two miles north of Flint river. A few settlers had 
preceded him and located from one to three miles 
farther north than father did. 

I think that the Frenchman drew somewhat on 
his imagination in describing the few settlers he met, 
or perhaps none of that class ever settled north of 
Flint river. His description of the wild forest was 
quite accurate, howev er. and correctly portrayed the 
trails as they existed back away from the Saginaw 
turnpike. In his description of the last six miles before 
he reached Flint river, the 13e he menti one having 
crew on logo. and which his fellow travelers forded 

[Tl 
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NOTES concaanmo THE unLLoGGs 
with the horses was Thread Greek, one mile south 
at} where the Saginaw turnpike arm the Flint river. 

The thick forest through which he passed that 
night, remained almost unbroken southwest of Flint 
for years. 1Whe- father moyed to Tyrone in the 
winter of 1842-3,-a State road had been oleared from 
Flint to Fultonyille, but had not been turnpiked up. A 
few settlers had located along this road, but the houses 
were from onetothreemilesapartandonlyafew 
sores were suitiyated at each settlement. All else was 
dense forest. 

It was along this State road that Smith and I and 
a hired man drove the sheep, sows and young cattle, 
stopping at Fentonyille over night, Smith was so lame 
and stifi' he oould not get out of bed next morning. 

He lacked a few weeks of being nine years old. 
From the farm to Flint was five miles, from Flint to 
Fentonyille fifteen to eighteen. The snow in the road 
was packed, but outside of the sleigh track it was' a 
foot. deeo. It was too long a walk for a boy at his age. 

' Youspeakofreadiugmyhitoffanfllyhietory.l 
am glad you are able to read it. I feared that neither 
you or the girls, Clara and Emma, would be able to 
do so. 

The Frenchman's story brought fresh to my mind 
the soenes of my childhood days. 

Those were happy days. I love to recall them. 
InfaetI loyetoreoal lanypartofmyl i fe , forasa  
general thing it has always been a happy one, although 
a strenuous one. My happiness has always been great- 
est in striving to better my fellows. 

W.K.writesmethatClaraisquite il l ,atthe 
Sanitarium Hospital. 

[ 3 ]  

. . .  Uriginaifrom 
DFEIIHEEL" to” (300316 UNIVERSI'I'T OF MICHIGAN 



NOTES CONCERNING THE EELLDGGS 

Iregretnothayinghadthepupilofmylefteye 
enlarged last May. 

All are as ueual. 
Your affectionate brother. 

M. G. Ramona. 

Healdeburg, Calif. 
Sept. 5. 1'15. 

J. H. Kellogg, MD... 
Battle Creek. Mich. 

Dear Brother John: 
If you have Iraneleted the Frenchman’s descrip- 

tion of the eountry between Flint and Saginaw In 
1831. I would be pleased to see any short aeoount you 
may have had typewritten. but do not trouble to make 
a eopy purposely for me. 

Whenever you typewrite anything for me, please 
print no black, and no clear on poeeible, for my eyee 
hare gotten to the point where I eannot make out all 
the words in the translation. I am feeling fine now. 

Your Brother. 
M. G. W e .  

1'“ [ 9 ]  

. . .  flrIgInaIfrom 
DFEIIHEEL" I]? (300316 UNIVERSI'I'T OF MICHIGAN 



A BIT OF FAMILY HISTORY 

By Hnsm'rr G. Kaunas 

CHAPTER I 

Y earliest recollections date from the time when 
my father lifted me up to show me my little 

brother Smith. who had come onto the stage of action 
the previous evening. This was on the sixteenth day 
of March, 1334. I was two years old the twenty- 
eighth of the same mo nth. 

My next remembrance is of a black man calling at 
the door. He was the first black man I had ever seen. 
His face was so black, his eyes so large and white, and 
his mouth so big and red when he opened it to speak. 
I was frightened and fled in terror from his presence. 

I next remember seeing my father dressed in full 
regimentals. He wore a nice suit of deep blue. his coat 
sleeves were trimmed with silver braid. I learned 
years later that he belonged to the State militia and 
had been out with his company on drill. 

I also remember that my mother sent me to an 
infant's school. This all occurred in Hadley. Mass... 
where I was born. March 28. 1332. 

In July. 1334. my father started for Michigan. I 
well remember how we traveled.—fi rst. by horses and 
wagon to Albany. then by canal boat to Bulfalo. and 
by steam boat to Detroit. The canal boat was pulled 
along by a horse. We had our own beds. and my 
mother cooked for us on the heat. When on the 
steamer. a little girl and I stood on the bottom step of 
the cabin stairs and we tried to out-jump each other. 

[10} 
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NOTES CONCERNING THE KELLDGGS 

When we reached Detroit, we stopped for a day or 
two at a hotel, while Father purchased a pair of horses, 
a wagon, a few tools and farming implements, a few 
groceries, and a little furniture. 

We then started for the Dickinson Settlement, 
sixty miles northwest of Detroit. This Settlement was 
named editor Mr. Lansing Dickinson, who was the first 
settler in those parts. 

The Dielcinsons were from Hadley, end were old 
friends of my parents. They had loeeted on land three 
miles north of the, there, little hamlet, but new, city, of 
Flint. They had five neighbors, two of whom lived 
close by; the other three lived in a cluster, one mile 
nearer Flint. There were five or six families living in 
Flint, and two or three at Threadville, one mile south 
of Flint. These were all the white settlers there were 
in all those parts, when my father loeeted there. 

The next day after reeehing the Settlement, father 
selected a half seetion (320 euros) of lend one mile 
south of Dickinson’s location, end two miles north of 
Flint. 

Three of the settlers were near neighbors, as their 
lands lay opposite ours. 

There was an empty log cabin within a hundred 
yards of one oorner of the lend my father had selected, 
and into this he put us, end our goods. The cabin had 
only one room, and no fireplace. Mother cooked on e 
eemp fire outside. The log eebin was not very oom- 
forteble, but mother managed to live there until winter 
set in, by whieh tiIne father had built a very good log 
house. It had one large living room and two bedrooms 
on the lower floor, and one large room in the gerret. 
A large open firepleee was built against the end oppo- 
site the bedrooms. It was built of stone. The chim- 
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NOTES CONCERNING THE KELLOGGB 

nay was built of sticks. and was plastered with mud 
inside and outside. Our cooking all bad to be done at 
anopenfire.aswehadnostove. 

While there were only six families in our vicinity. 
there were several single mil who had been grading 
the turnpike. By hiring some of these. father was able 
to build his house, also a log stable fer his horses and 
two oows, to clear, plow, and sow to wheat tw0 or three 
sores, and dig a well, that first autumn. 

In addition to our white neighbors, there were manyr 
Indians living near us. Several families of them were 
oamped on our land. 

Deer were plll , as also were wolves. foxes, and 
other wild animals. We were pioneers. in a wild eoun- 
try and had very few of the oonvenienoes and oomforts 
of present day life. and none of its luxuries. 

We had to make our own soap and oandles. In- 
stead of friction matches, we had a flint and steel. and 
sulphur dips, with which to staft a fire. Everything 
was very primitive. 

We moved into our log house in the autumn of 
1834 and lived in it five years. 

In the summer of 1335 one of our horses died. 
Father then bought a boautiful pair of mares in Flint. 
Two weeks after bringing them home. a man came 
with an offloer and took them away. Thaisr had been 
stolen and brought from Ohio. Father then had to 
buy another pair. one of which died a year later. 

Notwithstanding these losses, father was of good 
oourage. He worked very hard. early and late, clear- 
ing land and raising wheat, oorn. buckwheat, oats. 
potatoes, turnips. and carrots. 

In 1836 he built a brick oven for mother to bake 
ourbreadin. Healsobufltalargeframebarnthe 
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aameyear. Irememberthatalotofmeneameand 
helped raise the heavy timbers. and that after the 
frame was all up. one of the men called for whisky. 
Father said. "I have no whisky, but I have something 
better." He then went to the house and he and my 
mother same out. each tearing a large panful of hot 
doughnuts, of which the men ate with satisfaction. 

My brother Albert was born April 7. of this same 
year. 1835. 

New settlers had been eoming in during the eight- 
eenmonthswehadbeenonourfamandwehad 
more neighbors. Flint had grown to be a flourishing 
village. A Baptist minister had some in and he held a 
protracted meeting in Flint. Father took us all to the 
meetings. At the close of the meetings in the spring. 
father made a public profession of religion, by being 
baptised, by immersion. in Flint river. Mother stood 
on the river bank with baby Albert in her arms; Smith 
and I stood beside her. 

Therewas asawmill in Flint, whenwe firstoame 
to the State. A gristmill had been built in Threadyille, 
in 1835. A blacksmith by the name of Flavius Jo- 
sephus Stanley, located near the gristmill in 1336. and 
set up his forge there. There was no other gristmill 
inthatpartoftheoountry. Thereforeallthefarmers 
formanymiles arounmhadtogoto‘l‘hreadvflletoget 
their grain ground, and they soon began to patronm 
Mr. Stanley’s shop, my father among the rest. ' 

My mother occasionally accompanied father when 
he went to the mill or the blacksmith shop and soon 
beeanm acquainted with Mrs. Stanley and her eldest 
daughter. whose name was Ann Janette. 

My father’s youngmt sister, Priscilla, same out 
from Massachusetts in the fall of 1335. and remained 
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with us a year. Smith and I were always left with her 
when mother went to Threadville. 

In 1837. father was persuaded. much against his 
own better judgment, to take five hundred dollars' 
stock in the Bank of Genesee. Mr. Charles Haskell. 
the promoter of the bank. had managed to get tvm of 
our neighbors, Addison Stewart, and Warner Lake, 
both old aesuaintanees of my father, interested in his 
project, and the three of them same to get father to 
join them in the enterprise. 

Father had no money to invest. "You need no 
money." said Haskell. "You ean have stock for your 
note. You give me your note signed by yourself as 
principle and by Mr. Stewart and Mr. Lake as an reties, 
and I will issue to you bank stock, dollar for dollar." 
Continuing. Mr. Haskell said, "The banking business is 
very profitable. You will never have to pay either 
principle or interest. We will make the notes to run 
six years, and the dividends will more than pay the 
note when it becomes due. 3o. you see, you will get 
the stock free in six years." 

Father hesitated, but when Stewart and Lake both 
ofl'eredtosignhisnoteassurefles. i fhe  wouldsign 
as surety for them. he yielded; gave his note for five 
hundred dollars, payable in six years. with interest at 
ten per sent, payable semi-annually. interest to be 
eompounded if. not paid when due. He also signed 
similar notes for each of the others. 

This was a terrible mistake, for the bank failed 
inlessthanayearandthestoekholdershadtomake 
the losses good. 

In addition to this. the notes had been hypothe- 
eatedbythebankofieeraandtheywouldhavetobe 
met when due. 

[14] 
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In 133?. my mother began to cough and spit blood. 
Doctor Hoses from Flint same and bled her. taking a 
pint of blood. He then directed her to take a fire 
shorelful of live ooalI. sprinkle rosin on the coals, 
and inhale the fumeI. This she was to do daily as long 
as the tough lasted. She followed his directions for a 
time, but getting no better. quit. 

The doctor same and bled her ones. and some- 
*flnns.bwhwseadsyearthenndhnu 

My sister Julia was born Feb. 3, 1838. I do not 
remember who med 1? or mother at the time of the 
birth of Julia, but tarsr shortly thereafter Ann Janette 
Stan] ey. then fou rteen. same and helped mother all 
through the school vacation. Mother was well pleased 
with her. 

The bank baring failed, and the interest on 
father's note becoming due. and Warner Lake having 
put his property out of his hands, made hard times for 
father as, in addition to paying.P his own. he had half the 
interest to par on Lake’s note besides the bank loss. 
Hr. Sternrt paid his own, and half of Lake’s. 

During the five years that we were on the farm. 
many settlers same in. so that by the end of 1839. our 
neighbors had increased to thirty families, the greater 
portion of whom lived between three and sis: miles 
from us. however. 

0f these thirty families. twenty-six lived in log 
houses. none of which were as large or as comfortable 
as ours. Three of the other four families lived in 
small frame houses. The other family lived in a house 
that was a eross between the two. being in part a 
frame. and in part a log house. 

This house was built on a farm of 160 aores. The 
farm was one-fourth of a mile wide and a mile long. 
It fronted west on the turnpike. a orossrosd ran 
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along the north eide of the farm. a small meeting- 
houae etood on a eorner of the farm oppodte. 

In the fall of 1839 the owner of thie farm pro- 
posed to trade farm with father, offering to nayr quite 
a. little eum of mono;r in addition to hie farm, ae father 
had much the largeet plane. Father aeeepted the ofler, 
and wae able to pay everything he owed. except the 
banknoteandhepaidtheintereetonthataleohia 
share of the bank loan. 

My parenta were both very eoneeientioue Chris- 
tiana. After father wae baptized, he set up the family 
altar and we had family worship at leaet onee a day. 
Father alwave tried to live up to hie agreemente. He 
waa open -hearted and generoua. He would eooner eut- 
ferloaethangotolawtogetwhat waejuetly duehim. 
He onee told me that he never eued but one man, and 
the- paid the coat himaelf after getting judgment. 

Father'e health began to decline in 1838. He had 
inflammati on of the evee and waa nearly blind for 
weeke. The doctor putaflyhlieter on thehaekotie 
neck, making a fearful looking Bore, which waa weelne 
in healing. Next he gave him calomel, salivating him 
eo badly. that for eeveral daye his tongue wae eo swol- 
len that it protruded from hie mouth; Soon after re- 
eovering from the inflammation of hie even, and the 
efiect of the doetor’e treatment, a chronic diarrhea not 
imwhiehlaetedhimtortenveare 

' Improper food during thoee first five yeare waa 
the eauee of the undoing of hie health. 

Our morning meal wee almaet invariabhr hot pau- 
oakee with bacon fat and molaeeee: our dinner alwm 
wee, in part, of pork eooked in eome of the varioue 
wave, fried, baked or boiled. We never had fruit, al- 
though we had melone, pumpkine and eueumbera in 
their eeaeon. 

I 18 l 
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CHAPTER II 

ATHER moved us onto the new farm in December, 
1339. My sister Martha was born on the eighteenth 

of February, following, 
Miss Ann Janette Stanley had proven herself sueh 

eficient help when with us two years previously, that 
mother had made arrangements fer her help again at 
this time. She came to us shout the first of March and 
stayed four months. Mother was very slow in getting 
up, and as Miss Stanley seemed to be both able and 
willing to look after everything, she left the entire 
eare of the house and the children to her. 

Miss Stanley was then only sixteen, but she was 
so eareful, so kind to the children, so attentive to 
everything, and so respectful, both to herself and to 
my father, that mother really fell in love with her as 
a friend, and regretted her leaving. 

Miss Stanley was desirous of getting as good an 
education as the schools within her reaeh eeuld give. 
She therefore felt that she must resume her studies 
and returned to her school as soon as the term opened. 
They parted as very warm friends, but they never met 
again. 

Mother was able to be up and do her work with 
such help as I eould render, but she gradually failed 
until September 16, 1341, when she had a fearful hem- 
orrhage from her lungs. Father was two miles away 
at the tima Smith and Albert were with him and I 
was at a neighbor’s house just aeross the turnpike. 
Julia, then three and one-half years, and Martha, the 
babe of nineteen months, were alone with mother. 
Julia came for me and I hastened home. I found 
mother sitting in a ehair and a pool of blood was on 
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NOTES CONCERNING THE KELLDGGB 

thefloor. Ihelpedhertothebedthen rauahalfmile 
towheresboywas harrowingin some wheat, and sent 
him, with one of the horses, for father. 

In about an hour father came in. Mother's first 
words were, "Go for Ann Stanley. I want her and no 
one e ." As soon as father could get mother fixed 
comfortably in the bed, he went for Miss Stanley, but 
he had to return without her, for she was twenty miles 
awayteaehingschool and wasnotexpectedtobehack 
before the last of October. 

Mother then told father that she was sure she had 
butafew daystoliye, and shechargedhimtobe sure 
and get Miss Stanley to come and care for the chil- 
dren, and to keep her as long as she would stay. 

Hemorrhages occurred every day for el even days 
and then mother passed away, September 27th. 

There were then about thirty-s familes flying 
within a radius of four miles, but in all these there was 
not a woman that could come to our help, nor was 
there in all these familes more than three girls that 
were over ten years of age and not one of these three 
could be spared from their homes. 

The neighboring women were very kind in coming 
in and helping care for mother, but the care of the 
children fell to me. After the funeral, the neighbors 
left us to ourselyes. We got along as best we could. 
I did the most of the cooking, although Smith helped 
all he could. 

Toward the end of October, father went to 
Threadyille to engage Miss Stanley if he could get her. 
She had returned from her school, but would not con- 
sent to come to our help, and he once more had to re- 
turn without her. For a few days father was very 
much discouraged. His farm work was far behind and 
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needed every moment of his time. The house also 
needed fixing up for winter. The children’s clothes 
were not suitable for the coming winter, and no help 
eonld be had. 

About five weeks after the funeral, a family by 
the name of 'I'rieltevr moved in and loeated on land two 
miles west of us. Mr. Triekey had a daughter who 
was sixteen: she was very large and strong for her age, 
and she wanted work for the wintfl while her father 
was building hie house. 

Father gladly hired her and placed her in charge 
of the house and the children, and then gave hie whole 
time and attention to hie farm work, which was far 
behind. 

For a while things seemed to be kept in proper 
order in the house, but, as the winter advanced, Miss 
Triclceyr became eareless and neglected the children, 
and the house also. Father took Miss Trisha}?r to task 
for her neglect and asked her to clean things up. In- 
stead of doing so, she packed her things and went 
home, leaving us to ourselves. 

Father seemed almost distracted for a day or two, 
but in a few days he saddled a horse, and after telling 
metotakegoodeare ofthebabv,andtobecarefnlof 
the fire, he rode awayr and did not return until night 
drew on. 

A week later, he did the same thing again. When 
he same back, he seemed much more cheerful. The 
next day or two were spent in cleaning the house and 
fixing things in proper shape. 

A few days later, March 29, 1342, father hitched 
up his team, and drove away, after telling me to keep 
the children's faces and clothes clean, for, said he, "I 
expect to bring some one home with me when I return." 

[19] 
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It was nearly night when he returned We were 
all in the house engaged in play, Smith was the first 
tohearthewagomasitdroye uptothe gate. He ran 
to the window, and looking out, exclaimed, ”Father 
haseomeandhehasawomaninthewagonwith  
him." 

Weal lranouttoaeewhohadeome with him. 
“Why, ltisAnnStanley,” said I. I rantothe gate just 
as she jumped from the wagon, and said, "Hello, Ann. 
I am awful glad to see you." "So am I," "So am I," said 
the others: and "I am glad to see you Merritt. and you, 
Smith, and you, Albefl, and you, Julie," she said, as 
she shook the hand of each of us. Then taking Martha 
in her arms, she said, "And is this Martha? How she 
has grown!" "Yes," said father, "she has grown, and 
so have all of them." Then, hearing us call her “Ann," 
he said, "Children, you must not call her ‘Ann.’ You 
must call her ‘mother’ for she is your mother now." 

We were quite surprised by these words, and, look- 
ing at her, I asked, “Is that so, Min Ann?" II“Yea,” 
said she. "I have some to be a mother to you all." "I 
amgla ,"saidI. "Soaml,"eaehoftheothersre- 
peated. Miss Stanley then sealed the oompaet by 
gisinghiarthaandJuliaeachakiss. Aftertaking 
some things from the wagon, we went in, and she put 
her things away, then, speaking to me, she said, "Her- 
ritt, if you will build a fire, I will get some supper," 

It was quite dark when father same in from the 
barn, bringing a bucket of milk with him. Our supper 
of oornmeal mush and milk was soon eaten, and then, 
after father had read a chapter in the Bible, and had 
invoked the blessing of God upon us and our home, 
we children retired. 

[all] 
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~Whenwewereup and dressedthenextmerning, 
we found that our new mother had the breakfast ready 
on the table. 

l1“wo or three days later, mother, as I new called 
her, made an inspection of the entire farm, including 
the house and barn and the stock. 

In the evening, the following convers stion, as 
near as I ean recall it, between her and father, tool: 
place: 

M.—-—“I have been on a tour of inspection today." 
F.--“tt did you inspect?" 
M.--——“Everything. The farm—the house, the 

barn, the cows and young eattle, the pigs and the 
chickens, the tools, the orchard, and the horses." 

F.--“Well, how do you like the looks of things?” 
M.—-“The house needs to be finished, but there is 

no hurry for that. Everything else appears all right, 
only I did not see any sheep, nor any clever hay. Have 
you no sheep?" 

F. —"No, I have no sheep." 
M.—"I wish we had some. Stocking yarn is very 

dear, If we had a few sheep, and a wheel, I eould spin 
all the yarn needed for stockings for the family. My 
grandmother Simona has a wheel for spinning flax 
and all of her sons wear trousers made of flex that she 
has spun. Can’t you buy a few sheep in time for 
shearing this spring?" 

F,—"I do not know of any sheep that can be 
bought. There are only a very few in all the eountry, 
and what few there are are not the kind that would 
suit me, for the wool is ooarse and the fleeee is very 
Huh I: 

.—‘"I am sure it would be the best investment 
you could make, if. you were to get a few sheep. They 
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hieressesefsst, sndtheweelwouldhelppeyofl'the 
interest on that note and pay the note too." 

.—“Thst is true, but I would have to go, or send, 
to York State to get the sheep, end it is too lste for 
that new." 

H.—"Don’t you think clever is better for eows 
than red top or timothy 1” 

.-—-“Well, yes, but there is no closer raised in 
these parts and no seed to be had." 

With this, the eonyersstion ended. This was the 
first week in April. 

About three weeks later, after the breakfast wss 
eyestheraskedmothertogeeuttethepastunewitb 
him,ssyinghehsdsomethingtoshewher. 

I went along. On. reaching the pasture we sew I 
hand of eighteen sheep, all fine weel merines. Instead 
of being held on their legs, necks and bellies, as the 
few sheep in the neighbort were, they were thickly 
eevered with fine wool, from the end of the nose to 
the hoof. 

“Whose sheep are thmT” mother exclaimed. 
"Onrs," my tether replied. "You said we must 

have some sheep, in time for shearing this spring, and 
here they ere." 

“Tell me all about it," said mother. So he told 
her. One of our nesr neighbors, it Mr. Wslkley, bed 
I relative living near Buflsle in the State of New York 
who was intending to some to Michigan and he had 
written toWslkley ssldng ifhe eould sell efew sheep 
if. he brought some with him. Wslkley wrote him to 
bring fifty f or him. So the relative brought one hun- 
dred,thinkingheeeuldsellthe other fiftysfter getting 
fliers. Father first learned of this by meeting the men 

[fl ]  
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between Flint and Walhley’e farm, ee he wee driving 
the eheepl 

Seeing what the eheep were, and being told that 
fiftyr of them were for sale, and finding that the price 
wee reaeenahle, he engaged right then and there to 
take eighteen. of which eeventeen were ewee. and ene 
a ram. He then berrewed the money and the next day 
the eheep were divided and he hreught hie heme in the 
evening ee ea to give ne all e eurpriee in the merning. 

Mother wee very happy, end began to etndy fer 
the future. 

Mother’e grandmother Simone lived fear milea 
frem ne, with her een, Joeeph. She had twe other 
eene, Aeher end Willard. and a daughter, Sarah, all of 
whom lived with her end J eeeph. 

he the time for ehearing the sheep drew en. father 
eent me to eel: Asher to eeme and help waeh the eheep. 
I wee to go afoot end elene, but ae the teem wee not 
huey. mother asked father to let me go with the team 
end ehe would go aleng end vieit her grandmother. 
Her prineinel reaeen fer wiehing to ge. wee that 
ehe might find ent eemething about an inning. 

Her grandmother had no wheel fer spinning wool, 
but ehe told her that e hire. Welt, whe lived two milm 
north of our home, had both a wheel for apinning woel 
end a leem fer weeving cleth. We drove heme end a 
few daye later drove the eheep to the river, where 
father end Aeher weehed the eheep, end Smith end 
I weehed eeme ef the lergeet lembe. After the eheen 
were eheared, mother had eighty pennde of clean. fine 
wee], end in the fall we had a flock of ferty eheep end 
13m eeveral ef the ewee having reieed twine. 

When the neighbore learned of father’e eueeeee 
ee a :1t  raieer, theyr all wanted eheep. He eeaid have 
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sold the eighteen old ones for all they cost him, and 
still have the 30 pounds of wool, and the twenty-two 
lambs left, but he had no sheep to sell. 

Father found mother gave such good counsel about 
the sheep that he was ready to listen when she asked 
him to sow clover, as will be seen in the next chapter. 

After the sheep were sheared. mother asked father 
to let me take the team and drive her over to see Mrs. 
Wolf. She tool: the children all along. 

She then made arrangements with Mrs. Wolf to 
spin what stocking yarn she would need, and to spin 
and weave a web of cloth for skirts and pettieoats for 
herself and the two girls and a large shawl five by six 
feet for herself. and one three by three feet for each 
of the girls. Mrs. Wolf was to take her pay in wool. 

Smith, Albert, and myself had never had a regular 
sack cost, but our new mother cut and made one for 
each of us, and a pair of trousers, also, using blue 
jeans, or denim. cloth. These were to be our Sunday 
school clothes. We felt very proud, both of our clothes 
and our mother, for we were the best dressed of any 
of the boys who attended Sunday School. for the others 
all were plain waists. 

As harvest time drew near. mother asked me to go 
with her to the grain field and she showed me how to 
select and cut straws for a hat. She said that she 
would teach me how to plait them, and that when I 
had them plaited she would sew the braid into a hat. 

A few days later, I managed to cut my foot with 
an are. cutting it so badly that my father had to carry 
me to the house. I was laid up three weeks with this 
out. during which mother cared for me as kindly and 
as carefully as though I had been her own son. I 
learned to plait the straws, and she sewed, shaped. and 
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pressed the hat, the first she had ever made or seen 
made of straw. 

My stepmother was a very observing woman. 
Whenever she saw something that was new to her, and 
which she thought would be of service, she watched 
the maldng of it, if possible, or if not possible for her 
to see it made, she would examine it carefully and learn 
how it was made. It was in this way that she learned 
how to do many things besides making hats. 

After the stocking yarn was sent home, her eye- 
nings were spent in knitting. 

Her sewing all had to he done with a needle. and 
it required better light than that of a tallow dip. 

When Mrs. Wolf had the weaving done, mother 
made up the shirts and petticoats for herself and the 
girls. She then had father get some “hardtimcs 
cloth," a substitute for woolen cloth, and made us boys 
each a pair of trousers, and a "warmus" instead of a 
coat. The "warmus" was out much like a shirt, only 
it was open all the way down in front and was not slit 
at the sides. It was wide and lapped in front, and was 
fastened with a belt. It was lined, as also were the 
pants, and was very warm. The “hardtimes cloth" 
was Io-called because the times were so hard that but 
few could aflord to wear woolen goods, which were 
very dear. The filling, or woof, of this cloth, was spun 
very coarse and very loose, and was dead black ; the 
warp was white and was hard spun. Both were cotton. 

In December of this same year, 1342, a man by 
the name of John Russell who owned and lived on a 
farm thirty-two miles from us, in Tyrone, made a 
proposition to trade farms with father, as his father 
had traded for the farm next adjoining ours. 

E25] 
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Father went to Tyrone and leeked the farm ever. 
and the eurreunding eeuntry. He wee well pleased 
with the outlook end after eeneultetien with mother. 
neeepted Rueeell’e prepeeitien. end the exchange wee 
made. 

[25] 
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CHAPTER III 

Our Home end Life in Tyrone 

Y‘RONE wee e township ei: milee square. Ite in- 
habitants were limited to twenty-four femfliee in 

1342. all of whom were fermere end were aeettered 
over the township. There wee no church building and 
only two school houeee in the township when we moved 
there in 1342. 

Hertland township joined Tyrone on the south. 
It contained have little hamlets. in each of which there 
waeeamallgriatmill.eatore.ehlaehemithehop.e 
eehoolhouee and nix or eight familiee. 

One of theee hamlets. Hartiand Center. wee four 
miles distant from the farm for which father traded. 
The other. Parahallville. was two milee am. There 
wee e eewmill in Perahallvflle. A doctor lived in Hart.- 
land Center. 

In addition to the femiliee raiding in Parehell- 
ville, Hertland Center. and Tyrone. there were only 
twentyr or twenty-five femiliee reeiding within e redim 
of air: milee from our new home. all of whom were 
fermere, living in log houeee. There wee also one 
eehoolhoeee in Hartiand township, three miles distant 
from our new farm. 

The farm for which father traded, eontained one 
hundredmdeimacrmeizhtyofwhichwerein 
standing timber. Sixty eeree were under cultivation. 
Theremainingtwentyeereawereuneieered. The 
timberhadheeneutdownhetiteflllleyontheground. 
end there wee very much of it. 

Thehoneewaetheheethoeaeintheenfiretwdve 
mfleaequere(144equaremilee)ahovementiened. It 
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was a frame building about 22 a; 32 feet. There were 
four rooma. via... a large living room. a parlor. two 
bedrooma and a large pantry on the lower floor. all of 
which. the living room excepted. were hard finiahed. 
The living room waa lathed. There were two large. un- 
plaatered rooma upataira. There was a brick fireplace 
at each end of the houae. the... in the living room and in 
the parlor. 

There was a cellar under the whole of the houae. 
the atone wall of which aerved aa a foundation for the 
building. A well waa handy at the back door. but it 
waa aeventy-aeven feet deep. There waa a frame barn 
30:40 feet and a frame building 20: 30 feet with 
atable for aia eowa in one end. the remaining portion 
being an open ahed for young atock. There waa a hay 
left over the atable and shed. There waa alao stable 
room for aia animala in the barn and a granary 12 r." 12 
feet, alao a threahing floor 12 a: 30 feet. There waa a. 
hay left over all theae. and a hay. or mow. as we called 
it, 16 a 30 feet for hay or grain. 

The eighty aerea of cultivated. and chopped over 
land waa fenced in and eroaa fenced ao aa to divide it 
into at: fielda. There waa an orchard of twenty hear- 
ing peach treea. and a hundred apple trees. nearly of 
bearing age. Such waa the new home for which father 
had traded. and auch were ita conditiona and aurround- 
inga. at the time he made the exchange. 

When the time came to move to Tyrone. father 
moved his farming utenafla and the major portion of 
hie hou aehold goods flrat. leaving the attack and the 
family for the laat. 

A heavy anew fell while he waa away with the 
first load. but the roadway wae aoon beaten down and 
we started with the eattle and aheep. A man engaged 
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for the purpose. went ahead with the two eowe and a 
dozen head of young stock. Smith and I followed. 
driving the sheep. Father was to bring the family and 
the rest of. the goods the next day. We drove the 
settle and sheep twenty-two miles. to Fento nville, the 
first day. The next morning Smith was so lame and 
stiff that he eould not get out of bed. and we had to 
leave him for father to bring along when he came. 
Smith was not quite nine, nor I quite eleven at the 
time. The hired man and I reaebed the farm by noon. 
and father arrived with the family before night. 

The evening and the following day were spent in 
getting settled. after which mother made a survey of 
the entire premises. She was pleased with everything 
from the first and still more so. when she learned a 
few days later that we were ten miles nearer Detroit 
and Ponti as. the form er being fifty milee distant and 
the latter twenty-five. These places were thirty-five 
and sixty miles from the former home. 

The snow all melted ed in a very few days after 
our arrival in Tyrone. and then mother went out again 
to see what was planted on the cultivated [and When 
she same in she said she had been in hopes of finding 
a field of red clover. but she was disappointed. as there 
was no clover on the farm. "No." said father. "there 
is no clover. nor il there any red top or timothy. nor is 
thereanyseedtobehadehortof Pontiaeor Detroit. 
The eountry is new and the farmers all depend on 
marsh hay and straw to winter their stock on. It is 
poor stufl' but cattle can live on it although they some 
out very thin in the spring. so thin in feet, that it is 
quiteeommonintheaepertetoeayofathinenimal 
that it is ‘epring poor'." 

[in] 
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A few days later mother told father that she had 
been thinking that if the farmers all depended on 
marsh hay new, they would all want clever as seen as 
they learned its value as hay and they would all want 
seed. "New," said she, "if you get started to raising 
clever hay and seed you eau readily sell all you do not 
need. I really feel that you ought to plant some as seen 
as the spring opens." 

"Well," said father. “I will make inquiry about 
m } !  

The schoolhouse nearest us was one and one- 
eighth miles distant and to this school Smith. Albert 
and I were sent. Father was busy chopping the out-- 
down timber into lengths fer burning—eutting and 
splitting into feuee rails everything that would split. 
There was an immense quantity of legs left, however, 
that would net split, which would have to be hauled 
together and burned. Father had a good horse team, 
one of which, the mare, was in the habit of kiefing 
fearfufly whenever she get her hind legs over the 
traees, which she frequently did when hitched to any- 
thing that had to be dragged along, like a harrow, er 
slog. 

. Seeing the mare kicking. with her leg ever the 
traces as father was hauling some rails, mother said, 
"Fath er, you ought to get some eseu f or that we rk. 
Why don't you trade the horses for euen. I shall be 
in eonstant fear that you or one of the boys will get 
kicked to death by that animal." 

The mare was a splendid animal, nine years old, 
and had no other fault, so father did not wish to part 
with her. Nevertheless, he listened to mother, and the 
following week he hitched up his team and drove over 
to a neighbor’s, a Mr. Mapes, sis miles away, to look at 
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ayokeofonenhehadwhichhewiehedtotradefora 
horae, having loot a valuable one a few daya pre- 
viouely. 

Father took me along. He was well pleased with 
the oxen—they were perfectly broken in to drive by 
the word of oommand: they were very large and 
strong and walked aa faet aa horeea. 

Mr. Mapee did not want the mare. He preferred 
the horee a it matched hie perfectly in Iiee, lhape, and 
eolor. He hitched our horae beaide his own and gave 
it a trial on the road and also in dragging a heavy 
log on the ground. Being oatiefied with the horae, he 
made father an offer of the oxen and aome mon ey—I 
forget how much-4 or the horae. Father heeitated, 
whereupon Mapee offered to throw in a yearling Dur- 
ham bull. Father a m d  this propooition. He then 
hitched the oxen to the wagon, tied the yea rli ng, which 
would lead, behind the wagon. and put the saddle, 
which he had brought along, on the mare, for me to 
ride, and we started for home. 

After going about a mile, father stopped the team 
and told me to get in the wagon and drive the oxen 
and he would ride the Inare. 

he he handed me the whip, he aaid, "The oxen are 
well broken in. You will not need to touch them with 
the whip. When you want them to turn to the right, 
aay 'Gee.’ to the left. eay ‘Haw.’ to atop, eay ‘Whoa'." I 
had never driven oxen before, but theee were ao well 
broken that I had no trouble and drove them all the 
way home without getting out of the wagon, although I 
had to make two right angle turns, onee to the left 
andonoetotheright, ateroearoada. 
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planted, as father sent to Penfiae and preeured some 
clever seed in the M .  

There were sixteen aeres planted in winter wheat 
when we got the farm, and, about the first ef March, 
father sewed the chef en this sixteen aeres. There 
had been a light fall ef anew the day befere he sowed 
it. The ground was just nieely severed with the white 
anew, and the clever chaff being nearly black, father 
could see just hew evenly he was sewing the clever 
ehafl'. 

When the wheat was harvested, we feund that the 
clever had taken root finely, and was very even and 
thrifty. 

I shall have mere to say about that clever latw en. 
We had been in Tyrone but a few days before 

mother began to make inquiry of some of the neighbor 
women, to learn if there was any one upon whom she 
eeuld depend to assist her in the near future. 

A Mrs. Morgan, who lived two miles east and ene 
mile seuth from us, was recommended to her. 

I do net knew how she and Mrs. Morgan met, but 
meet they did, and Mrs. Morgan agreed to eeme at her 
cell. 

About March 16, father same upstairs at mid- 
night, and waiting me gently, so as net to waken Smith 
and Albert, whe were in bed with me, he asked me to 
dress as quickly as possible, and some down fer he 
needed me. I did so. 

When I get dewn stairs he took me eutside, where 
the M were hitched to the wagon, and said to me, 
“Merritt, do you think yeu ean drive ever to Mr. hier- 
gan's and get Mrs. Morgan 2 Mother is very sick. Ile 
you knew the way?” "Y es, father," I replied. "I 
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know juat where they live. I have been there onee." 
"The night is very dark,—there in no moon juat now," 
aaid father. “I can find the way. I have only three 
turns to make," aaid I. 

So oE I drove, eitting in the wagon all the way, 
ereept that I got out once and held my whip before 
the oIen'a faces as we went down a ehort, but steep, 
hill. Ahalfmileeaetofonrhouae,theroadmadea 
sharp angle to the right: then a half mile aonth, it 
made an angle to the left, then the wagon trail, for it 
wae no road, twisted around among the trees for one 
and three-quarters milee, to the road on which the 
Morgana lived, than it angled to the right. There were 
but two honaea in the whole diatanoe: the night wae 
dark; I was not eleven years old, yet I made the trip / 
safely and got back home before daylight, bringing 
Mre. Morgan with me. Mra. Morgan stayed with 
mother a day or two then I took her home. 

About two weeks later I waa aent to bring her 
again, by daylight this time, however. The following 
night, March fillet, my eiater Mary Annette waa born. 

Afterl- father traded for the oven, our team work 
wee all done with them. I waa taken out of echool and 
put to hauling the logo together, while father chopped 
them. I will not record all the details of our aummer’a 
work—euflioe it to say, that we cleared fifteen men. 
We planted five of them in corn and summer fallowed 
the reet, and fifteen aeree beeidee; planted the orchard: 
one acre in potatoes: put in a few aorea of rye, a few 
ofoate, andpaeturedthereet. Weallworhedhard. 

When we got our wheat out and thrashed, father 
waa greatly dieappointed for he only had 160 buahela 
from the whole sixteen aorea. It wee nearly half 
cheat. 
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We raised 400 bushels of potatoes, however. 1' rom 
theoneaorethatweplanted. Ioftengotathree gal- 
loo: bucket full from a single hill. 

Assoo'nasmotherwasoutofbed.shebeganto 
plan for her summer and fall work. She persuaded 
father into getting her a spinning wheel and also a 
cheese hoop and press. During the summer. she made 
some butter to sell (at 12% ate. a 1b.). fifteen or 
twenty cheeses, spun all the stocking yarn needed for 
winter stockings, made s straw hat for each of us boys 
and one for father. and spun yarn enough to make 
cloth for a full suit for the four of us, and frocks and 
pettieoats for herself and the two girls. This cloth 
she hired woven and that for the suits for father and 
us boss was sent to the woolen mill at Milford. twelve 
miles away. to be dyed. fulled. teasled and sheared. 
The following year. 1844. she did the same. 

In the winter of 1843-4, father deeided to fenoe in 
the 30 sures of timber land as a pasture lot for the 
eows and the oxen, when not in use. The sheep and 
young stock ran at large. We now had, in addition to 
theyokeofomtwoyokeofs teers thatwehad 
broken in. 

I was attending school that winter. Our firm 
fronted south on the township line road that separated 
Tyrone from Hartland. It also fronted west on a see- 
tion line road, along whioh we children went to our 
sehool. 

Hasteuing home from school one afternoon early 
in January. 1344. I disoorered blood on the snow. It 
tool: but a moment for me to disoorer that the blood 
wasinthefoottrackofaman.andthetrackseame 
from where father had been chopping. 

I ran home as fast as I oould. following the blood 
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veryr freely. Instead of piefing up the blood vessel 
and tying it, and then sewing up the wound, he stripped 
011’ a piece of the spongy:r part of the leather. and laid it 
on the open cut, and bandaged it up. He told mother 
to wash the out out dailyr with castile soap and warm 
Water. and to app]:r the leather sponge drm'ng daily. 

The wound was nearly two months in healing. 
which it finally did by granulation, but it is a wonder 
to me now that it ever healed. for that piece of eele 
leather had been laying around for several years and 
must have been loaded with germs. The wound gaped 
nearly a ball' inch and swelled fearfully for a month. 
After it 'was finally healed, there was a wide soar left. 
Had the doctor let it alone. as mother had fixed it, it 
would have healed in a month. 

In the early summer of 1344. if I remember the 
date correctly. father was summoned to court in Flint, 
to appear as defendant, the bank stock notes having 
beeome due and both his note and Lake's remained 
unpaid. 

Hehadtradedthebaymareforabroodmare. 
which nowhadavoungoolheohehadtowalktoli‘lint. 
His work was so pressing that he worked in the field 
allday;then.afternightbadsetin,hestartedatoot 
and alone for Flint, arriving there just at daybreak. 

He appeared in eourt on time. and the matter was 
fixedupsothathegotanextension oftime. Ithink 
he gave a new note and took up the old one. It was 
about night when the business was finished and he 
started for home, walking again all night and arriving 
just as mother had breakfast ready for us. 

Fatherhad putinZI} orzfiseresinwheatinme 
fall of 1343. He bought clever seed in ehafl and sowed 
on this wheat field in the month of March. 1314. In 
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the summer of this same year he out a hea‘Iirzvr erop of. 
clever hay from ban aeres that he first sowed, getting 
twentyr tons. He then sowed gypsum, or plaster, as we 
eelledit, usingonebarrelof4001baonthetenaeres. 
He then let the seeond erop go to seed, and from this 
got thirty bushels of cleaned clover seed, besides 
enough to seed twenty sores in the spring of 1345. 

The clover seed sold readily for five dollars a 
bushel. . . 

In 1346, he began to plow under his clever fields 
that had been mowed two years, with the result that 
land which had only:r produced ten bushels of wheat, 
and some that had produeed only eight, finally pro- 
duced forty bushels to the aere. 

So much for mother’s judgment of the worth on! 
clover. Her judgment of the worth of sheep proved 
equally good, for his flock soon inereased to a hun— 
dred, andthereafterhehadagoodbandofsheepto 
sell everyr year, mostly at $1.50 per head. But each ’ 
year he sold a few stock breeders at five dollars per 
head. 

There was no sale for either eorn or potatoes, yet 
he raised both for feed, boiling the potatoes and fat- 
teninghispigs on them. Hefed eorntothem thelast 
few weeks to harden the pork. He also fed eorn to his 
teama. 

I must now return to mother’s work. 
In the summer of 1844 she did her usual house- 

work, her butter— and cheese-maid ng, her spinning, our 
knitting, and sewing. She did the same also in 1345, 
although the birth of Laura in August interfered some- 

:‘what with it. 
In 1346 there came a change. 
Thenotethatfatherhadgiveninplaeeoftheold 
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bank stock note. had become due, but father could not 
pay it. The note had passed into other bands and the 
holder thereof same with a sherifl' to attach the farm. 
he having sued and got judgment on the note. I re— 
member the sheriff and the man verjlr well. I also 
remember how distressed father was. He told me 
afterwards that the ease looked so hopeless that he 
felt like tossing up a pew and letting it deeide 
whether he should give up all and let the man have 
the farm. or whether he should try and arrange for 
more time. Mother was for making one more efi’ort, 
the holder of the note having proposed to give two or 
three years more time if father would pay up the in- 
terest and give a mortgage on the farm. This mother 
advised him to do. for she still had faith in the sheep 
and the clever. 

Father paid the interest and gave a mortgage on 
the farm. and the men left. 

Soon after this, mother asked father to get a 
loom built for her. He wanted to know what she would 
do with a loom. 

"I intend to weave what sloth we need for clothing 
and also enough for sheets for the beds in winter." 

‘ W  Ann.” said father. "you eould not put the 
yarn in the loom, nor weave the cloth, either, for you 
do not know how." 

"You get me the loom and you will see that I do 
know how." said she. 

Father was very loath to get it, telling her that she 
had more work now than she could do. 

"I know it," said she. "but Namer Westervelt. a 
very bright girl my own age. has promised to work for 
meallsummerforadollaraweek, ifIwillteaehher 
how to spin." Mother would not take "No" for an 
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enswer. end, by the time the wool wes eerded, smother 
spinning wheel hed been preeured end she and New 
were spinning yern fer the eleth. 

Befere the spinning wes finished, the leem was 
brought home end set up in the parlor. As seen es s. 
suflici ent quentity of yarn for e web of cloth wes 
ready, mother put it in the leem, first winding the 
right number of threads on the beem at the heck of the 
leem. then pessing them. one by one. through the 
harness. end the reed, end then fastening it to the 
hem in front, on which the web of eleth wes to he 
weund. She then tried the treedles to see if the threads 
were ell right in the harness. She found that they 
were. I well remember how pleese'd she looked when 
she eelled f ether in to see her weeve. 

“Well, I give it up." said he. "I did not think yen 
would sumed witheut having some ene to shew you 
how to de it." 

Mother’s weeving proved e sueeess, es also did 
everything else she put her hend to. She net only 
wove plein cloth. but she teught herself how to weeve 
one other kind, which wes in three eelers. red. yellew 
and brown. She dyed the yern herself, using legwood 
chips. e tropical product, for red; butternut her]: fer 
hrewn. end yellow eel: herl: fer yellow. She dyed the 
stocking yern blue with indigo. 

She wove eur sloth every yeer fer three years,— 
until the sheep end the clever hed peid the lest eent 
of fether’s indebtedness. plestered the house through- 
eut. built e large edditien to the house, for e kitchen 
end woedshed. end hed peid for e twe—seeted. light 
spring wegen. for summer use ; e double bobsledge, 
er sleigh. with seets for eight, end two strings of 
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sleigh bells. for wimlnr rid ing,—then she stopped 
weaving. 

I must now tell how the sheep and the clever did 
all this. 

The clover gave us all the hay we needed for feed- 
ing our sheep and eattle. and from eight to ten tons to 
sell yearly. at from $3.00 to $10.00 per ton. It also 
gave us from $100.00 to $150.00 worth of eleaned seed 
to sell. The clover which we plowed under so enriched 
the land that we had sin and sometimes eight hundred 
bushels of wheat to sell. instead of only one or two 
hundred. as at first. 

The sheep gave us four pounds of wool per head. 
generally. Some gave five or sis: pounds. which gener- 
ally brought thirty-five to forty cents a pound. and 
one year brought forty-sis: eents. 

Father and mother were both careful managers 
and from the time the mortgage was put on the farm. 
they worked like slaves. 

As a result of their management, they had four or 
five harve sts every year. In February and March, they 
had a crop of clover seed for sale. In J uly. a erop of 
wool and a band of m‘utton sheep were ready for mar- 
ket. In August, September and October, the wheat 
was marketed. In November or Deeember. from ten to 
twenty fat porkers weighing never less than 200 
pounds and sometimes 350 pounds after being dressed. 
were either butchered and sent to market or sold on 
foot to the drovers. ' 

In addition to this there were the hay and the 
apples. 

Father and mother both had large hearts, hearts 
that eould feel for others' sorrows. They had both 
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drunk of the bitter waters of adversity and knew just 
how others felt when mede to drink thereof. 

When mother deeided not to do any more weev- 
ing. the loom wee teken apart and removed from the 
parlor. . 

As I was helping take it apart, I said. “I suppose 
you will sell the loom new you have no more use for 
i H' 

"Indeed. I shall not," she replied. "I still have use 
for l " 

"What use will you make of it, mother 1‘" I asked. 
She then named a poor widow who had several 

children to support, but no means. She then said that 
she intended to give the loom to her if she wanted it. 
she being a good weaver. but having no loom. Mother 
gave her the loom. 

Mother incident: 
After mother began to do her own spinning for 

cloth, she hed to have a seamstress in the fall to help 
do the sewing. She eould get the help of several dif- 
ferent vvomen,I but she made ehoiee of a girl about 24 
(Polly Conlilin), who hed been a eripple from the age 
of Wave, both her knee joints being ankylosed end 
her legs bent. She employed this girl often. Her father 
wee an old men and very poor, although he was 
both a farmer end a blacksmith. He was not only a 
poor man, but also a poor farmer, end a poor black- 
smith, for he was nearly blind. He had two sons end 
seven daughters, Pol ly, the eripple, being the eldest of 
the family. The boys were too young to do any black- 
smithing, or to farm properly. Three of the girls were 
under sin: years. In the winter of 1348, mother went 
over to Mr. Conklin’e to get Polly to eome end do sew- 
ing for her. She saw the three little girls; pale little 
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puny things they were. They looked half starved, as 
indeed they were. The two youngest were crying. 

Telling the youngest on her knee and putting her 
arm around the other as she stood beside her. she 
asked them what they were crying for. “I want some 
milk," they both said. “and we have no cow." Their 
mother then told us that they had lost their only cow 
several weeks ago and that they had no way by which 
to procure another. 

When we returned home, mother told father all 
about it. "Well." said father. "at the close of my talk 
to the people tomorrow. I will mention the matter to 
the audience, and I think we can get money enough to 
buy a cow for them." 

There was a fairly good attendance at the meeting 
the next day and father. before dismissing the people. 
told the story of Mr. Conklin's children crying for 
milk. He then asked all who were willing to help get 
them a cow. to let him know. There was no response. 
After the meeting was closed, he asked several well- 
to-do men. all good Methodists. to contribute toward 
getting a cow for. as he stated it, "the poor children 
who were crying for milk." but not a cent could he 
set 

The next morning we had hot corn bread, johnny 
cake. and milk for our breakfast, of which we were 
all 1eery fond. As we were eating mother said. “I wish 
those poor children had some milk. Can’t we spare 
one of our cows?" Father said, “We really have but 
one cow new. The two old cows are about dry. and 
will be quite so in a couple of weeks. as they are com- 
ing in, in the course of a men ." 

I think you had better let Merritt take the spotted 
heifer over to them." said mother. 
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The spotted heifer was enr heat eew. She was 
four years eld.—her seeend calf was new about six 
weeks eld and quite fat. We had expected te slaughter 
it fer veal and to get the rennet fer eheese-making. as 
we did not eare to raise it. 

Father then ght a mement, then turning to me. he 
said. "Merritt, after breakfast yen may take the spotted 
heifer ever and turn her lease in Mr. Cenkli his yard. 
then go in and tell Mrs. Cenklin that her children need 
net ery fer milk new." 

I did se. The 0011a family was very happy. 
I walked back three miles to enr heme and reported 
and then the Kellegg family was happy. 

A few days later, twe ef the good Methodists, 
men that father had asked to assist in buying a eew. 
came to ear hense and spent frem 3 EH. nntfl 10 MI. 
in a vain endeaver to shew father hew hypocritical he 
had been in giving Mr. Cenklin a eew. "Yen knew." 
said Peter Becker. "that yes acted the part of a hypo- 
crite. Yen did it all fer shew and to get the name of 
being generens." 

Mr. Becker was a Methodist class—leader. Amos 
Dexter was a leading Methodist, also. 

They both lahered hard fer twe henrs to shew 
father the errer of his ways, but he answered than 
never a word. 1Wherenpen. they "turned him ever to 
the hnfl‘etings of Satan." as they said. and left. 

After they had left. mother get the map and 
mepped up from the fleer and hearth a. great peel of 
tobaeee sp ittle which Mr. Becker had expector ated, 
he having smoked twelve pipefuls of tehaeee while 
there. 

Another incident: 
a Mr. Humphey Church owned a ferty aere tract 
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of land adjoining our farm on the north. He had a 
good log houee, and the moet of hie lend wee under 
cultivation. He had a wife and two boye, both too 
young to work. He had been running up a etore bill 
for a eouple of yeere, until it amounted to $250.00. He 
had been eued. and judgment had been given againet 
him. The sheriff had come with an attachment and 
had levied on hie farm. It wee to be eold to eatiefy the 
debt. The farm would actually have been worth $600 
in gold, had it been on a publie road, but, unfortu- 
nately. it lay eighty rode back from any road. 

Believing that the land would be hidden in by the 
creditor for the emou nt of the debt, leaving Mr. Che reh 
homeleee and penn ileee, fat her. after eoneulting with 
mothe r, went to Mr. Church and offered to lend him 
the $250.00 at a low rate of intereet, Church to give 
hie note payable in one year. the note to he eecured by 
a mortgage on the farm. Mr. Church gladly accepted 
the offer. The mortgage wee made in my name. 

At the end of the year. Mr. Church could not pay 
either prinei ple or intereet. Father then gave him 
the intereet, $17.50, and gave him another year. At 
the end of the year, he eould not pay either prineiple 
or intereet, eo father forgave him the whole debt, had 
the mortgage dieeharged from reeord, gave him back 
hie note, and Mr. Church wee out of debt to ue. Mother 
wee quite agreeable to thie. 

I meet refer to the doctor: again. 
I My eieter Emma Francie wee born Sept. 13. 

1347. She died August 29. 1849. after a very short 
illneee. She wee taken eo euddenly and eo violently 
ill. that father and mother thought it neceeeary to eend 
for a physician. Dr. Clark, who maltreated fether'e 
foot, wee now dead (he died of smallpox}. A Dr. 
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Beard had eume into Hartland Center and I was sent 
vocallhim. Whenheuamehesaid itwas unlyauane 
of wurms, and that he euuld get the child up in a day 
ur twu. Muther disagreed with his diagnunis. She 
told the doetur that she believed it to be a ease uf in- 
flammation uf the lungs. “Nu." said the doctor. “it is 
worms. See huw white she is about the munth and 
nune."= 

"Yes, Doctor." said mother. "but, see how shurt 
her breath in." 

"Babies always breathe short and quick," said the 
doctor. “Her lungs are all right. It is only wurms 
that ails the chi! " 

Theyr treated the child fur wurms, fur a few days 
and then it died. 

Shurtly after the child was dead. muther told 
father that, fur the sake uf the other children. she 
wuuld really like to lmuw whether she ur the doctor 
was right. She still believed that it was lung fever 
that killed little Emma Francis. _ 

The Doctor was sent fur. Father and mother 
were both present when he made his post-murkem e1:— 
aminati ua. Nu wurms were fuund but the lungs were 
veryr much inflamed. 

Father and mother were both very much dis- 
gusted with the medical shill. ur the lach'of medical 
skill, I shuuld say. of the doctor. 

Hearing of the "Water-Cure System." they sub- 
seribed f or the Water-Care Junraui, and read it fur 
twu years, but had nu ueeasiun to put it into practise 
until 1350. 

In 1350. Albert euntracted the measles. Father 
andmotherboththuughtofusingthewaterenre 
treannentbnthardlydareddumasflbert'seunch 
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wassevereandhisfleshhot. Theyisolatedhimand 
sent to Parshallville for a doctor who had lately settled 
there. He same and treated Albert, but he did not 
get along well. 

A few weeks later a regular epidemie of measles 
ran through the nei ghborhood, and all of father’s 
children eneept myself were down with them. I had 
had them when a babe in Hadley. Mass. 

When the rest of the children had this disease. 
mother kept them warm in bed until it was about time 
for the measles to some out, then they were put into 
oold wet-sheet packs. and kept there as long as they 
felt oomfortable. They were then taken out and in 
every ease the measles some out beautifully. They 
were then put into bed and kept warm. and they had 
plenty of fresh air. They were in bed less than half the 
time that Albert was and there was no after trouble. 

There is one inei dent in mothe r's life that oo- 
eured in the summer of 1347, that I have omitted to 
mention. 

Father had a three—year-old filly that had beoome 
yerydoeilebyreasonofbeingin foal. Thisfillywas 
the only pieee of horse—flesh that he then owned that 
was old enough to work or ride, and she had' never had 
a has-hoes, or a personII big or little. on her back. - 

It was haying time and father had ten sores of 
hay out, ready to be winnowed and cooked up. He had 
made a rude rake ten feet wide. with teeth twenty 
inches long and he put in two old plow handles with 
which to handle it. When all was ready. he put a 
harness on the filly. lengthened the tugs with two 
ropes which were tied to the ends of the rake, and. 
with this rude affair. he. handling the rake, and I, lead- 
ing the filly. put twenty tons of hay into windrows in 

[ill] 

Uriginsl from 
DigitiEEd b? 600316 UNIVERSI'I'T OF MICHIGAN 



NOTES CONCERNING THE KEILOGGS 

short order. The filly worked as steadily as an old 
horse. 

' The following Sunday a new Methodist minister 
was to preach in the schoolhouse and we all wanted 
to hear him. Father proposed to take us with the oIeu 
and wagon, but mother said, "No." She would ride 
the filly and carry Laura, then a babe. in her lap. "The 
rest can walk," said she. 

"All right,’ ' said father. "The filly is gentle 
mongh, I think. Merritt can lead her." 

The filly was brought out with a man's saddle on 
her back, the righbhand stirrup was thrown over onto 
the left side. mother mounted. took Laura in her arms 
and rode to chu rch. but she would not let me lead the 
filly. 

Mother was a brave woman, but there was one 
thing that for several years was a terror to her and 
that was the well. Our well was seventy-seven feet 
deep. It was curbed in from top to bottom with stone, 
eight to En inches in diameter. We drew the water 
with a rope. which was passed through a pulley, a 
bucket being hum}.P at each end. so that when there was 
a bucket at the tap, there would be one at the bottom, 
which would come up as the other was lowered. 

One day the rope broke as father was drawing 
water and both buckets and the rope went to the bot- 
mm. Father said he would climb down on the stone 
and tie a clothesline to each bucket, if mother would 
lower the lines to him. He got the clotheslinee and 
then Man the descent. As his head disappeared be- 
low the surface, mother was sic]: with terror for fear 
theatonesmightfallinonhimandsherantoher 
room and prayed for his safety until he returned to 
the surface. 
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_Fatherhadtogotothebettomofthatwelltoget 
the buckets, no less than four times in the first four 
years that we were on the farm, and mother was no 
frightened each time that it was hours before she could 
regain her usual composure and strength. 

The reps broke when father was away, on one 
occasion, and as he would be gene several days, I had 
to hestir myself to get water. There was no other well 
erspring within shalfmile of us, To climb dewnen 
the stone as father did, I dare not, nor would mother 
havepermittedmetodoso,iflhaddared. While 
cenitating as to how to gel; the buckets, the idea oc- 
curredtomethatiflweretelowerthesteelyards 
down into the water, I might be able to fish up the 
buckets. I thereupon lowered them and succeeded in 
hooking onto s bucket. After that, father did not have 
to go down again. 

Therearemanyotherthingsthatcometomy 
memory, that would be interesting to write out in 
full, but I must forbesr. 

The first twenty-one years of my life were spent 
under my father’s roof, and during all those years, I 
never heard, or knew of his telling an obscene or vul- 
gar story, or using unbecoming language. I never saw 
himangry. Ineverknewhimtooallanyofuschil— 
dren reproachful names, such as dunce, blockhead, etc... 
although he once said to me langhingly, “You are a 
goosehead. to ask such a silly question." This was in 
reply to some of my nonsense. 

I was at home eleven years after mother came into 
our house to he a mother to me and the other four 
children, and in all those eleven years, I never heard 
her complain of having a hard lot, a hard row to hoe, 
orofheingtired,orsick,ofthejobshehsdunder- 
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taken; nor did I inallthoseyears ererseehermani- 
fest anger or impatience toward one of as children or 
to father, although she did censure father once quite 
sharply. ' 

This is how it came about: Our nearest neighbor. 
Richard Marvin, was having his wheat threshed. It 
took about fifteen hands to run the machine, handle 
the sheaves of wheat, put awajlr the straw, and seek 
the grain. I was then sixteen. I had been pitching the 
heavy sheaves all the forenoon, and after dinner lay 
down on the unth reshed wheat to rest—fire or six 
other men were lying there also. Others, among whom 
was my father, were sitting near by. Mr. Marvin was 
not present, however. 

As we lay there, Willie Marvin, a lad of eight 
years, came to where I was lying and without the 
slightest provocation, struck me on my head with a 
nail hammer. The blow raised a lump as large as a 
hen’s egg and it hurt me exceedingly. I j amped up, 
caught Willie, took him across my knee and spanked 
him with my open hand. 

Willie ran crying to the house, and presently his 
mother came to the barn, leading the boy with one 
hand and with a camphor bottle in the other, and she 
gave the dozen men a good lecture for having allowed 
Merritt Kellogg to beat her little boy so. She then 
unb uttoned Wi liie’s clothes and showed his hacksides 
to the men. The men all laughed for, as one of them 
said, "Merritt must have spanked him good, for his 
backsides are as red as a spanked bottom," and so were 
Mrs. Marvin's cheeks as she led the boy away. 

In the evening Mr. Martin came over to our house 
and told father that he must horsewhip me. Father 
said that I had done nothing that he could punish me 
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forandeaid no more. Marvintelkedasteadystream, 
telling father that he was upholding me in my oruelty. 
and demanding that I should he whipped. Father 
would not argue the case, and said nothing for ten or 
fifteen minutes, but, getting tired of Marvin’s tirade. 
he finally said. "Mr. Marvin, I shall not punish Mer- 
ritt. He only gave Willie what he deserved. If you 
think Merritt deserves a whipp ing. you will have to 
whip him. Take him and whip him all he deserves. 
but no more." Marvin cooled down at this and left. 

After he had left. mother said to father, with 
some warmth, "I was astonished to hear you give Mr. 
Harvin permission to whip Merritt. I hope you will 
never again give any person permission to whip one 
of the children." 

Iwillnowhrlngmystorytoaolosehysayingthat 
the memory of my stepmother is equally as dear and 
pleasurable to me as is that of my own mother or that 
oat my father, for she was a noble woman. a kind and 
lovingmother,anearnestChristian,andagenuine 
heroine. 

F I N I E 

Heuldslmrp. California, July 3, 191d. 
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A BIT OF FAMILY HISTORY 

Bur-rank nnrasr Gear-res 

ATHERhadalwaysvotedtheWhigtieketupto 
1840. when William Henry Harrison was nomi- 

nated; then he bolted and joined the Abolitionists. and 
voted the Abolition ticket straight. Not because he 
hadanythingagainstflarrison, butbeoauseheoould 
not approve of the log oabin, hard older, and “Tippe- 
oanos and Tyler too" way of electionesring. as the 
Whigs carried it on. 

After the Fugitive Slave law was passed, father 
beoame a station agent on the underground railroad 
and helped quite a number of. slaves who were trying 
togettoCanada. Iremember several black fellows 
that he helped. Sometimes they stayed over night. 
Mother was in full sympathy with father in this work, 
andaidedhiminit. Shetookjustaamuchpainsto 
get the meals for those poor fellows as she did for 
white folks. 

No fugitive slave was ever refused assistanoe 
when he asked for it at our home. although our par» 
ents became liable to $1,000 fine and to imprisonment 
every time they gave help to runaway slaves. 

While engaged in this phil anthropio work for the 
slaves. father became acquainted with C. C. Foote, a 
Congregational minister. and a oanidate for Vios 
Prmident on the Abolition ticket. He sent. out to 
FumingtontogetMr. FootetogotoTyroneand 
preach, as he felt unable to keep up the work of holding 
servioe every Sunday. being only a lay member of the 
Commtional Church at Hartland Center. Mr. Foote 
qame to Tyrone every four weeks, preaching Sundays 
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Heelilaburg. Cal... 
Her. 17. 1915. 

Mrs. Clara Butler. 
and 

lira. Emma Hell egg, 
Battle Creek, Mich. 

Dear Sisters, Clara and Emma: 
Iwillnowredeemmyprofleetowriteyouau 

aeeount of my trip overland from Battle Creek, Mich. 
to Maryerille. Cal... in 1359. I shall have to as]: you 
toexeueemeforwrit ingwithapenei lae lamuo 
nearly blind that I eannot write with ink without 
apattering the in]: over my paper. You muat also e:- 
eueepoorwrifingforleannoteeeaeinglewordof 
whatlamwriting. Aalwflmleanonlyeeethefaint- 
eutehadowofadarkline. Aflorwritingafewlinee, 
Ireaditwiththehelpofathreeandahaflinchfoeua 
reading glaee; but I cannot hold it and write at the 
aametime. I have deyieedafrumeinwhiehl place 
mypaperJoholditinplaee. Ithaeamoyableeroee- 
harwithwhiehlmfidemyflngermtokeepthelinee 
straight. Theframeianotehedeoaetoenahlemeto 
apaee the lime at regular intervals. I preeume that 
Iwillfailtoeroeeallofthet'e,andtodetallofthei'e. 

IwillaleoaaythatwhenlleftBattle GreekIhad 
‘uottheleaetiileaefgoingtoCalifornia, norhad I any 
idea as to where I would loeate. 

After residing in Battle Creek three yeare, I 
found it impoeei ble for me to meet the neeeeaary liv- 
ingezpeueeeofmyfamily, from whatleouldearnea 
employment wee unsteady and wagee low. Thie condi- 
tion of the labor market, together with the oeeurrenee 
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of an unfortunate and to me coatly. affair. over which 
IhadnocontroLandforwhichIwaainncwayre- 
eponaihle. made it expedient for me to neck a homa in 
come other locality where employment would he more 
steady and more remuneratiye. 

I therefore acid my little home, taking a pair of 
horaee,harneea. andawagondnpartpayment. Be- 
fore locating in Battle Creel: I had been living in 
Jackson. and aa I had to settle a little buoineea with 
Dan E. Palmer. an old and 1mined friend, I decided to 
visit him and aee what prcepeeta J ackaon had to offer. 

I accordingly acid all of my ho uaehold eifecte er.- 
eept our bedding and a few cocking utenaiia. and a few 
carpenter’a tools, and drove to Jackson. We reached 
D. R. Palmer'a home the 211th of March, 1359. and 
stayedtherethreenighta. mariookingaboutand 
counseling with Mr. Palmu, I decided to go West, and 
locate in a new country. My wife perfectly agreed 
with me in thia decieicn. 

Aetheaeaaonwaagettiuglateforlocatingland 
andintimetoputinaepringcrop. Idecidedtogoaa 
far ac Chicago by rail. On Sunday morning I went 
to the atation of the Jackson and Adrian R. B. and 
chartered a freight car. into which I put my entire 
outfit of team, wagon, goods, wife and three children, 
the oldeat of whom waa a stepson. aged fourteen. The 
eecond child waa a stepdaughter. aged eleven. The 
third and yelmgeet waa the con of meelf and wife. 
and was mo and a half yeara of age. 

We had with no food auficient for aeyeral days. 
Ialeoputahaieofhayandabagofoataforthemam, 
into the car. 

Our train pulled out of Jackson at'12 o’clock, 
noomonthelaat'SundayinMarch. ortheflratSunday 
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inApriLIhaveforgottenwhieh,andwestartedfor 
:hinoago by way of Adrian and the Michigan Southern 

About three rah, a heavy rain set in. and when we 
reached Chicago at ten PM. it was still raining fear- 
fully. with no prospect of a let-up. 

I therefore arranged to have our oar attached to 
the first train leaving Chicago for Iowa City. 

My wife then arranged our beds for the night, 
using part of the hay. Our wagon bed was long 
enoughfortwohedsendtoend. andbeingthreefeet- 
wide, made a fine place in which to sleep. We had a 
very comfortable night, more comfortable in feet than 
we had for many nights thereafter. We all soon. fell 
asleep and no one awoke until after eight o’clock the 
next morning. When I awoke, I found that the train 
was at a standstill. 

Opening the door to see where we were. I was 
horrifiedtoseethatwewere antheedgeofthe north 
bank of the Illinois river. whose waters were a raging 
torrent. a hundred feet below us. The train was so, 
olosetotheedgeofthe hank.thatIfearedthatits 
weight would cause the ban]: to give way and plunge 
us all into the seething stream below. 

We could see over the prairie for several miles in 
every direction from. our train. but there was not a 
building of any description to be seen in any direction. 

Upon going to the front to learn the oause of our 
stop. I found that the engine was ofl the track. The 
ground was so full of water that the weight of the 
engine had caused the track to settle on the side nears 
eat the river, and, had not the engineer slowed the 
train down before reaching that spot, the whole train 
would probably have gone into the river. 
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We were detained about two hours at this point. 
thenwentontoBoekIsland,erossedtheMississippi 
river on the draw bridge, having to wait on the bridge 
while a steamer passed through. After crossing in 
Davenport. our train was divided into two sections, 
to he pulled up the hind. two engines being required 
to pull each section up the steep bluff. After getting to 
thetopofthehill.wehadlevelprairie.soourtrsin 
doubled up and one engine then pulled us through to 
Iowa City. which place we reached just twenty-four 
hours after leaving Jackson. 
. After settling with the R. R. Go... I unloaded my 
stuff from the can. put my wagon together. loaded my 
goods into it and drove into the business part of the 
city. to learn, if possible. what the prospects were for 
my finding employment. 

It did not take long for me to find that the entire 
population. in the city and in the country. also, was 
wholly absorbed with one topic only. and that was, 
how to get to the newly-d iscovered gold mines near 
Pikes Peak. Every kind of business was at a steady 
still. Iwasadvisedtojoinlntherush. ThisIcould 
not do, for I had very little money. I must have enl- 
ployment immediately. 

Iwastoldthatarailroadwasincourseofcon- 
structi on, which was to run from Iowa City across the 
state to Council Binds. My informant said that the 
contractor was at work about eighty mflm west of the 
city and that in all probability I could get work with 
my team with him. ‘ 

After talking the matter over with my wife, we 
decided to try for a job on the railroad. 

After laying in a supply of food suflicient for us 
for a few weeks, we drove out of the city. and stopped 
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the first night at a farm ewned by Samuel Everett, the 
only 3. D. Adventist in the State ef Iewa at that time. 

Mr. Everett lived in a twe-reemed heuse. Upen 
learning whe we were, he invited us all in fer supper 
and gave my wife the privilege of making a bed fer 
herself and the twe yen nger children, en the kitchen 
ileer. Alvin and I slept in the wagen. The night was 
bitterly eeld, iee refining an inch thick. Our teeth 
ehattered meat of the night. 

The next merning, Mrs. Everett get as a good hot 
breakfast and fried a tin mill: pan full of deughnats 
fernstetakealengwithns. 

Mr. Everett advised as to an ne further west. but 
asheeeuld netshew as hewtemahealivinginernear 
Iewa City. we traveled en westward. and then ear 
trialshegan. The frestwasjueteemingeutefme 
ground. the days being warm and pleasant, but me 
nights were very eeld. A heavy emigratien had set 
in fer the Pikes Peak eeuntry. eenseq nently. the roads 
were badly eat up and very muddy. One of my herses 
was small and shert-legged, and he eeuld not stand up 
to the read werlt. Very eften I wenld get stalled in 
the mud and weuld have to get a passing team to pull 
eurwagenent.havingtepayflftyeentseachtime, 
generally enee and semen'nms twiee a day. 

Upon reaching the plane where the R. R. was 
build ing. we fennd that all weri: was stepped, the enn- 
traetor having abandened the jeh, and the men had all 
left. 

We had new reached a part ef the state where the 
settlers were few and far between. generally 1’ rem ene 
to fear, and semetimes ten miles between the heeses. 
and ne ene wanted to hire help fer any purpose, as 
theyhadnemeneytepayferit. 
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Thinga looked very dark for no where we now 
were, but we oould aee nothing but starvation or heg- 
ging if we looked back to where we eame from, no 
after another oonanltation with my wife, we decided 
to eontinne our way westward no far no to Elk Horn 
Clint, aixteen milea weat of Omaha, Neb. 

My wife had a brother, William Bawaon, by name, 
who had settled down in Elk Horn City, after having 
aeeumulated a good puree of gold in mining in Cali- 
fornia, and after having aought a location in Missouri, 
in Kansas, and in Iowa. Hie wife had written glowing 
aeeonnte of climate, the land, and the proapeota in 
Nebraska. We therefore deeided to trade our horm 
for oxen, if we eould, and to travel on. 

A day or two later, I heard that there waa a man 
living four milea north from our road, who had oxen 
to trade for horaea. leaving my wife and the two 
younger children at a farm honae where I learned of 
the eattle, I drove my team over to find the cattle, 
taking Alvin along with me. Finding the man and the 
eattle, I made a trade, getting three yoke of cattle, a 
two-year-old heifer, noon to come in, a fine feather bed, 
a. good rifle and aeven dollara in money—aloe the 
yokea and ehaine for the eattle. Aa noon on the trade 
wae made, I hitched up the cattle, tied the heifer be- 
hind the wagon, put the bed and the ride into the 
wagon and drove back to the road, getting there just 
before anndown. The next morning we atarted weat- 
ward again. 

One yoke of the oxen wae too old to be very gm 
and they were very thin in flesh. Another yoke war. 
not eo old, but waa quite thin. The third yoke waa only 
four'yeara old and waa not well broken in to work. 
never having done much work. They were in fine 
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flesh. however. About eleven o'clock the first day I 
drove the cattle , the oldeet pair gave out completely, 
aothatlhadtoatopfortwohoureforthemtoreetaud 
feed. At one o'clock EH... I hitched up and drove on 
very el owly, stopping every mile or two to let the old 
cattle rent. 

We did not pass a human habitation of any kind 
all day. nor did we reach one until two houra after 
aundown. The place we then reached wan kept by a 
well-to-do farmer, who had many cattle. good build- 
ingaandloteofhayandoorn. Hemadehieplaeea 
regular oarnping station for the Pike'e Peek emigrants. 

The next morning I diamond that thin farmer 
had a yoke of nix year old oxen that were in prime 
working oondition, having worked all winter. They 
were very large, well broken and newly ehod with iron 
ahoea. 

Afterhreasnetlaakedhimforatrade. Aha]! 
hourlaterIdroveawaywithhiaoxenandmyfour- 
year-old pair. leaving with him the old pair. the two- 
year-old heifer. and the feather bed. I wae now wfll 
flxfl for a team. The new oxen were so well broken 
thatwhenltooktheyokeonmyahouhiertoyoke 
them up, the of! ex would come to meet me, and when 
I had put the yoke on him, the ox that worked on the 
nigh, or left hand aide, would walk up and place his 
neck under the yoke at my bidding. even if he was a 
hundred feet away. I put the young oxen on the 
wagon tongue, and the new pair on the lead and could 
ait on the front end of the wagon and drive them by 
wordofoornrnand. Ineverhad reaeontoregrettrad- 
ing horeee for oxen after getting thoee. 

ThetripaeroaeIowawaaaverywearyone. The 
nightewereveryooldandtheroadwaaverymuddy 
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much of the way, mneciallsr in the river bottoms. 
Skunkfliverbottomwaetheworstofall. Fortwo 
miles before reaching the bridge, the wagon was up 
to the axletrees and the cattle up to their bellies in 
mud. Ahundredteamsadayformanydaysinaue- 
cesaion had made a mud hole a mile in width and twu 
miles long, to the bridge. It took from two to six 
hours for teams to reach the bridge. I made a detour 
two miles around, traveling four miles to make two, 
and so escaped the worst mud, making the bridge in 
two and a half hours. 

Feedformyteamwasveryexpensiveallthem 
across Iowa. There weresomanrteams on-the road 
and the farmers so few, that the}!r put the price of both 
hayand corn untofive oraixtimes whatithad ever 
been before. I had to pay one dollar a bushel for corn 
inthe ear,whichwasequaltotwo dollars andtwelve 
centaahundredpounds. Haywasashighinpropor- 
tion. 

I remember that as we neared Council Blufis, we 
encountered a regular blizzard. We had camped on 
Friday night at a place where there was a lot of dead 
timber, some standing and some fallen down. We had 
both hayr and corn for our teams, and decided to spend 
the Sabbath there, although it was only midai’ternoon. 
We always made it a point to camp over flabbath at 
thefiretgoodeampingplsceweeametoonli‘fiday 
afternoon. 

After unhitchingafifeedingmvtemlbuflta 
good big heap of logs ten to twelve inches thick and 
setflretoit. Tbeflrstpartofthenightpassed quite 
eatl ezl'actofily but about four o’clock the next morning 
a very high and cold north wind act in which increased 
in intensity and velocity until it became a regular 
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blissard, lasting all day Sabbath. By three o'clock 
am, it became so sold, notwithstanding my big log 
fire, that it seemed as though my oattle would perish. 
I therefore hitched up and drove on for two hours 
before Mug a farm house. I there found shelter 
for my team in the shed and shelter for the night for 
my family in the house. This was our worst experi— 
enee in Iowa. 

A few days later we reached Council Bluffs and 
crossed the Missouri river on the steam ferry. there 
being no bridge, and landed in Omaha a little before 
sundown. Omaha was then a very small plaoe. 

Wehadhayandeorn withusforourteamaand 
food for ourselves. which was very fortunate for us, 
for after paying the ferrage across the river. I only 
had a solitary ten sent pieoe left. My family eonsisted 
of five—self, wife and three children. I had two yoke 
ofonen, feedforteamsandfood forfamilytolastone 
week, our bedding and clothing and a few carpenter 
tools. This was our entire outfit. Three weeks later. 
we again started on a westward trip which did not 
and until we reached Marysville. California, which we 
reached in the following September. 

The next morning after reaching Omaha. we 
started for Elk Horn City. sixteen miles away, where 
we arrived soon after noon. We were doubly disap- 
pointed on reaching the plaee. First, the so-called eity 
consistedofonlythreeone—storyeottagesofonlytwo 
roomseaeh,andasn1allshed foreattleneareacheot— 
tags. These cottages were fully one-quarter of a mile 
apart. There were but three other houses in sight. 
although the country for several miles was level prai- 
rie. The nearest house was one and a half mila 
distant. This was disappointment number one. On 
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reaching my hrother-in-law’e ho nee. I learned that he 
had joined the rueh for Pikee Peak two weeks previ- 
oualy and therefore muet be well on hie way to the 
land of promiee. 

The state of my puree. which wee eo reduced that 
it contained but one eolitary ten cent piece, made it 
aheolntely necmy for me to find employment an 
epeedily ae poeeible. 

Mire. Raweon. my eieter-in-l aw. could give me no 
information ae to the labor market. I therefore called 
on the neareet farmer. one and a half miles distant, 
to gel: any information he might be able to give. He 
informed me that every man in the country for miles 
around. who could poeeihly do eo. had raked a little 
money and left for the Pikee Peak Eldorado. 

He could give me a couple of daye' work. pro- 
vided I could do carpenter work. if I had toole to work 
with and would take corn in the ear for pay, one bushel 
of corn to pay for one day’e work. I had the tools and 
waegladtogetthecornaethegraeewaeonlyjuethe- 
ginningtoetartandmyoren maethekeptingood 
working condition. 

When the two daye’ work wae completed. I drove 
overudgotmemobueheleofeorn. Thefarmer 
could not direct me to any person who wee in condition 
to give any one employment. 

After ooneulting are wife. we decided that it would 
heheetformetogohacktoflmahaandaeoepttheflret 
honeet employment that offered; my wife agreeing to 
be ready to join me in it, no matter what, or where it 
might be. only eo that it wee honeet occupation. 

We had now been at Elk Horn City about a week 
and our food wae about gone. The next morning I 
hitched up my team and got a very early etart for 
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Omahmwhieh plaeeIreachedhymidday. Ihadtaken 
food with me for myself and the one yoke of rattle that 
I took with me. 

After watering and feeding my team, and eating 
my lunch. I started out to make inquiry for employ— 
ment. The first man I met was a hotel keeper. He 
wanted to know whet kind of employment I desired. 
I said, "I have two good yoke of oxen and a wagon and 
I would like to work the: on a farm. or in teaming on 
the road." I also told him that I could do a good job 
of any kind of carpenter work, and that I had tools 
sufleient to build a house with. 

Upon hearing my statement, he said. "You make 
yourself eontented for one hour; I am about selling 
my hotel. I shall know in one hour whether I sell. 
If I do sell. I shall have team work for some one." 

I called on him again at the end of an hour. when 
he informed me that he had sold hie hotel. {It was 
more of a drinking saloon than anything else, although 
it eontsined a couple of beds for the aeoommodation 
of transient lodgers.) 

This man was Capt. Pa rks. a hrothe r-in-l aw of 
A. B. Pearsall. formerly of Grand Rapids, but after- 
ward a resident of Battle Creek. Capt. Parks had 
formerly owned and run a small steamer between 
Grand Rapids and Grand Haven. 

When I called on him at the end of the hour. he 
told me that he and a Mr. Van Dusen were going to 
Pikes Peak and they wanted eight hundred pounds of 
food and other supplies taken through. They would 
pay ton eents a pound to have it freighted through 
provided I would take a heavy freight wagon in part 
payment, allowing forty dollars for the wagon. 0n 
examining the wagon. I found it too heavy for two 
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yoke of oxen. as it would weigh fully a ton. I found, 
however. that I could sell the wagon for tarenty dollars, 
cash. This would give me sixty dollars cash in advance 
for taking the eight hundred pounds of freight. I 
therefore closed a contract with him and Van Dusen. 

Two other men offered to pay me twenty dollars 
in advance if I would take two hundred pounds through 
for them. This gave me eighty dollars with which to 
purchase a supply of things such as my family would 
need. 

Weweretostartfromflmahaassoon asIcould 
go to Elk Horn and get my other yoke of oxen and re- 
turn. I left Omaha Friday morning and returned the 
following Sunday. 

011 Monday I loaded the thousand pounds of 
freight, tool: possession of the big wagon which I then 
sold for twenty dollars cash, and then receipted for the 
sixty dollars cash that the two contracting parties 
paid me in advance. and bought my own supplies and 
canvas and poles for a 12 a 12 foot tent. This was the 
first Monday in May. I got everything on my wagon 
and started for Elk Horn about three o'clock in the 
afternoon. arriving there before midnight. 

My wife and I set to work the next day and made 
the tent. As soon as it was completed we started for 
the land of gold. While I was away after the goods, 
my wife arranged to leave Alvin, my stepson, with 
Mrs. Rawson. until we should get settled in the Pikes 
Peal: country. if we should decide to locate there. 

While working on the tout, three savage looking 
Indians dressed in their war costumes, their faces 
painted with vermilion. and their heads shaven elme, 
allbutanarrow tuftofhairon thecrown ofthehead, 
which was braided so as to form a queer looking tas- 
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sel. All three of these Indians were big strapping 
fellows and seemed to me as rather dangerous fellows. 
They were the first Indians we had seen for many 
years. 

One of them could speak a little English. He 
wanted powder and bullets to shoot Sioux Indians. He 
was a Pawnee, he said, and the Pawnees were at war 
with the Sioux. It is needless for me to say that they 
got no ammunition from me. 

One and a half miles west of Elk Horn City, we 
crossed Elk Horn River on a government built bridge. 
We traveled sixteen milea the day we left Elk Horn 
City, camping for the night on the banks of a small 
stream called Rawhide Creek. Before leaving Omaha, 
I had procured a little booklet entitled "The Overland 
Guide.” In this booklet the various camping places, 
and places where food and water could be found, were 
so well pointed out that we could readily find them and 
could foresee dangers and many of the diliiculties we 
would have to encounter. 

The little booklet gave the following account as 
the reason for naming the creek Rawhide. 

This is the story: 
“In first or second year of overland travel to Cali- 

fornia, a small company of twelve or fifteen men 
camped for the night on the east bank of Elk Horn 
River. Soon after camping one of the party reported 
that he had seen an Indian on the opposite side of the 
river. There was a rash youth, of eighteen or twenty 
years, who declared that if it had been he who saw the 
Indian he would have shot him. He also declared that 
he would shoot the first Indian he saw. His father 
told him he better not shoot any Indian except in self- 
defense. 
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"The next morning this youth was sent out to 
gather the oxen for a start aeroee the river. which then 
bed to be forded. there being no bridge. While bring- 
ing in the settle. he spied an Indian woman on the 
opposite side of the river. He thereupon deliberately 
leveled his rifle at her and shot her dead. He said 
nothing about it to the rest of the party. however. 

"After fording the river, the party drove on six- 
teenmillltoaereekandeempedfor the night. Soon 
after eemmng. they were surprised to see a large party 
of Indians. a hundrw or more. coming towards them. 
Every Indian was armed. Afewhadgmbutthe  
greeternumberwerearmedwithboweandm 
hatchets and sealping knives. All were painted in 
war eolore. 

"One of the Indians, who oould speak Enflsh, de- 
mandedthatthemanwho ehotthewomaninthe 
morning. he delivered up to the Indians for punish- 
ment. 

"All denied at first, any knowledge of the matter. 
The Indians soon made the party understand that 
every man of them would be killed if the guilty party 
was not pointed out. The father of the rash youth 
who did the horrid deed had learned from his son what 
he had done, but had kept the matter to himself. He 
was now obliged to tell the others and the murderer 
was pointed out to the Indians. who then took the 
young man. stripped him of his clothes and skinned 
him alive with their seelping knives. From that time 
on the creel: was called Rawhide Creek." 

Our some from Elk Horn bridge to Rawhide 
Creel: was south-westerly. but at this point we turned 
directly west and proeeeded up the north side of Platte 
River. which was about three miles distant. 
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The five men for whom I had freight had not 
joined us yet as they were not ready to leave Omaha 
when I left. They overtook us a few days later, how- 
ever. 

I The grass had got started when we left Elk Horn, 
so we did not have to carry feed for our cattle. 

We met with no mishap nor with anything worth 
recording between Rawhide Creek and the mo nth of 
Loup River, a distance of about eighty miles. The read 
was good, feed was plenty, the days pleasant and the 
nights not- uncomfortably cold. Our road generally 
ran from one to three miles from the north bank of the 
Platte River, which was from one to two miles wide and . 
quite shallow at that time of the year, so as to be ford- 
able in places. he a general thing, the country ap- 
peared to be quite level, so level, in fact, that we could 
hardly believe that we were going uphill all the time, 
and that every night found us in a higher altitude than 
the preceding night, yet such was the case. Oc- 
casionally we would find a slight rise in the road from 
which we could see miles ahead and miles in the rear— 
np and down both sides of the Platte. From these 
points, we could always see strings of white covered 
wagons on both sides of the river, some far ahead, 
some far behind, but all moving westward. 

As we neared the Loup river I was greatly sur- 
prised one day to meet William Rawson, my brother- 
in-law, hurrying back to Elk Horn City. He reported 
the rush to Pikes Peal: as being premature. He had 
met reliable acquaintances, old California miners, who 
had gone out to the Pikes Peak country the year be. 
fore and had wintered there. They reported that but 
little gold had been found, and that in only a few 
places. Theyalsoreportedthattherewerehnndreda 
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there who would leave as soon as they eould gel: food 
to subsist on while on the way back. He advised me 
to turn about at onee. This I eould not do, however. 
without the consent of the parties for whom I had 
freight and they were still behind. I therefore de- 
eided to drive on to Columbus. s small town on the 
loop riser. sixteen miles ahead and go into eamp until 
my party should overtake me, which they did in a‘ 
day or two. 

Noneofthemenwishedtogobackandafter 
talking the matter over with my wife. we deeided that 
we would not better our situation by going back. 
Then again, it seemed to us as though the Lord was 
leading us. although it was by a way we knew not. 

At Columbus we same in touch with several par- 
ties who. like myself. had traveled separately and in- 
dependently of all organized regulations. At Colum- 
bus we found the Loup river too deep to ford, and had 
to erase on a ferry. The river bottom was quicksand. 
The ferry boat could only run half way across the 
river on aeeount of a shoal. Beyond the shoal the 
water was three feet deep for a hundred and fifty feet 
and the bottom of sueh floating quicksand that if a 
man. or a beast, or a wagon stopped still for a minute. 
the sand would wash away and he. or it. would sink. 
We therefore had to have teams enough hitched to 
each wagon to pull it across without stopping after it 
left the boat. From four to six yoke of oxen were re- 
quired to do this, aeeording to the weight of the 
wagon. There were a good many wagons to eross the 
morning I crossed. All of the men were very aeeom- 
modating and helped each other. so that we got aeross 
without any mishap. 
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When I engaged to take the freight through to 
Pikee Peek I drew up a eontreet in which it wee e1:— 
preselyetetedthattheteemendwegonweretobeet 
all timee under my eontrol end that we would not 
travel on Saturday, ee that wee the Sabbath day. All 
pertiee agreed to thie and Capt. Parke eigned the eon- 
tract, he being the chief men of the party of five. 

The firet Fridayr night after leaving Golumbue, we 
eemped at a fine place in which to epend the Sabbath, 
expecting to remain there until Sunday morning. All 
partiee were agreed to do eo, until a wagon came up 
endeempedneerue. AmenbrthenemeofEether 
owned the outfit, He had with him hie wife end child 
end a Mr. Ide, hie wife’e brother, end a young men. 
This part3;r were all old eequeinteneee of Capt. Per-Ire, 
end ee they were going to Pikee Peek, Capt. Parke 
eeloed me next morning to hitch up end travel with 
them. Thie I eould net eoneeientiouely do, end I no 
told the eeptein. Upon finding thet I would net go 
on,hebegantotalkwithmywifetogethertoineiat 
that I go on. He repreeented to her that it would be 
dangeroue for no to travel alone, ee we were liable to 
beettaekedbylndieneetanvtime. (Wehednot 
eeen an Indian einee leaving Elk Horn.) He finally 
got her eo frightened that ehe wanted to go on, but I 
would not eoneent. I told him that I would travel ee 
fer Sunday ee they eould Semi-day, eo that we eould 
eemp together every night exeept Saturday. This did 
not euit him, however, end, eeiting the four other men 
to help him, he hitched up and drove on, although I 
forbad it and told them to remember how our contract 
read. 

1 Whenlfoundtheywouldgoonltookmfiible 
andelunch, endmypietoLandetayedb-ehind. After 
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they had passed on. I walked down to the Platte River 
onemiledistant and waded aerossa narrowand shal- 
low branch, onto a wooded island and spent the day 
there. . 

The sun shone quite hot at midday. and I began 
to feel drowsy. So I closed my Bible and using it for 
a pillow. soon fell asleep. I did not sleep long. how- 
ever. for I was suddenly awakened by a hissing noise. 
and, opening my eyes. I beheld a snake's head within 
three inches of my face. The head was fully three 
inches wide and five inches long and was the must 
frightful sight I had ever beheld. With a sudden 
bound. I sprang fully five feet and grabbed a club with 
which I speedily put the snake out of eommission. 
This snake was of an unknown kind. to me at least. 
and was the largest I had ever seen except at a show. 
It was six feet long and three inches thick. 

I did not get sleepy again that day. nor did I see 
any more snakes. 

About two hours before sunset. I diseoyered a 
large wolf about a quarter of s mile away. It was 
traveling in a north-easterly direction and would eross 
my trail about half way between me and the road; I 
having come directly south in ooming to the river. I 
kept out of sight of the wolf. being hidden by the fell- 
age. I eould see it. however. As soon as the wolf 
came to my trail it stopped and sniffed the ground 
for a moment, then took the trail and come directly 
toward me. I let him approaeh within thirty feet, to 
the edge of the water. then. stepping suddenly into the 
open. I fired a shot at him. Whereupon he wheeled 
around and ran toward the road. After running ten 
or fifteen rods. he stopped and taming around, sat 
down on his hannehes and looked my way. I had 
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atepped back behind the foliage ae aoon ae I ehot at 
him. no that he could not now ace me. I again fired 
a ehot at him. whereupon he wheeled and ran until he 
crossed the road and paaeed out of eight. 

An hour later. two more wolvee put in their ap- 
pearance at the spot where I aaw the first one. They 
were following hie trail; but one of them struck off 
due north and croaaed'the road before reaching my 
trail. The other one kept on until it came to my trail. 
It then atopped. aniffed the ground. as did the flrat one, 
then turned and came toward me. I did not let it get 
quite ae near me an I did the firat one before giving it 
a ehot. he aoon an I fired. the wolf wheeled and ran 
ofl‘ acroee the road. and paeaed out of eight without 
once looking back. 

A few minutes later I atarted for the road, which 
I reached juet as the aun waa einkiug below the weetern 
horizon. 

I had eeen a atring of four wagone paae along the 
road at about noon. eo I expected to reach their camp 
about eight or ten milea ahead. Ae eoon as I reached 
the road I took a dog trot, which I did not break until 
I reached my own company. at half past 10 P.1d. 

(in reaching camp I found all was well excepting 
that one of the men had loot my an in the river. while 
attempting to wade to an ieland to get wood to cook 
aupper with. This wae a great loee to me. aa I could 
not procure another and had only a emall hatchet 
with my toole. 

The men did not attempt to interfere with the 
team again. nor did they again aak me to travel on the 
Sabbath. Sometimee the wagone would all atop over 
both Saturday and Sunday. 1Whenever they went on 
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on the Sabbath, we would lay by and then catch up 
with them while they lay by on Sunday. 

Our next unusual experience occurred a few days 
after the loss of my an. 

We were just going into our midday camp. I had 
unycked the cattle and turned the- loose to feed. The 
men had pitched the tent and gathered some brush for 
fuel, when it began to rain. A densely black cloud had 
suddenly arisen and with it a fierce wind. The wind 
ceased as suddenly as it rose, and as it ceased the rain 
turnedtohaiLthehailheingaslargeaspeas,com- 
pletely covering the ground. Presently, the hail stones 
became much fewer in number, but much larger in 
size, being an inch thick. Thinking a little ice water 
would be good, I stepped to the wagon and had my wife 
hand me a pitcher which I Mediately began to fill 
with hail stones. The hail suddenly stopped falling as 
I thought. The men were all in the tent. Suddenly 
Captain Parks called out, "Come in the tent, or get 
under the wagon, Kellogg, or you will be hill ." My 
first thought was Indians and I straightened up to see 
where the danger was. As I stood erect a hail stone 
two and one-quarter inches thick whizsed past my 
face, struck the ground at my feet and bounded higher 
than my head. I got under the wagon at once, and 
stayed there-until the hail ceased falling. These large 
hailstones lay about four f set apart over the ground 
as far as I could see in every direction. After filling 
my pitcher with them, I went to look for the cattle, 
fearing they might have stampeded during the storm. 
I soon found the cattle all right, and, leaving them to 
feed, returned to the wagon. There were now no hail- 
stonm in sight, all having melted. On the way back 
tothewagomlspied apieceofice orahail stone cm- 
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bedded in the prairie sad. I dlig it out, took it to the 
wagon, and measured its eireumferenee, which I found 
to be nine inehes. 

We hitched up the next morning and drove sixteen 
miles to our next eamping place. Five miles before 
reaching that place, we were surprised to find evi- 
denees of a wreokage somewhere. We found frag- 
ments of clothing seattered over the prairie as though 
they had fallen from above. One of our men, while' 
walking along about fifty feet from the roadway, 
picked up six twenty dollar gold pieees, two ten dollar 
pianos, and a five dollar pieee. He said nothing about 
it at the time, however. Five miles farther on, we 
same to a deep gulley about two rode wide. By the side 
of this gulley, we found the remains of three wagons, 
that had been wrecked by a cyclone, the day before, 
the same storm in the outskirts of which we had been 
caught. We suffered no damage, but this company’ a 
three wagons were so badly wrecked that they only 
had four wheels left with which to eonstruet two eerts. 
They were from the state of Maine and were now going 
to rig up two carts and return. Their tent had been 
destroyed and carried away. One of the men, a pas— 
senger, said he had an oil cloth satchel in which he had 
all of his clothing, and his purse, whieh eontained six 
twenty dollar gold pieces, two ten dollar gold pieces, 
and a five dollar gold pieee, all the money he had. He 
did not know what to do, as he had nothing left with 
which to go either forward or backward. As he 
finished his story, we were all greatly surprised to see 
one of our oompany take his purse out of his pocket 
and pick out six twenty, two ten, and one five dollar, 
gold pieces and hand them to the man, and hear him 
say, "I think I must have found your money. I picked 
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theae up fire milee back. I found them near a lot of 
rage of torn clothing. "' It would have done you good 
toeeethechaugethatcame oyerthatman’e faceae 
he took the money. The men reported that they found 
one of their on yokee four milee from camp. the wind 
haying dropped it after carrying it that dietance. 
One of our men had taken hie rifle early in the morn- 
ing and gone on ahead. to hunt in the hill which lay 
parallel with our road. air. or eight milee away. He 
came into camp just before dark, but the only game he 
brought in was a new eilk hat that he had found ten 
milee from the road. One of the wrecked men de- 
clared that the hat wae hie. and proved it by aware 
of his party. Thie wrecked party loat nearly all their 
proyieione and clothing. but fortunately, none of the 
men were hurt, nor any of their cattle. ae they had 
gone into camp before the cyclone hit them. I felt 
very thankful that we eecaped being wrecked. 

A day or two later, I had the miefortune to wreck 
one of my front wheele. It wae midday and we were 
going to unhitch and turn the cattle looee to feed. I 
therefore pulled out of the road way eo ae to let teama 
paee, if any ehould happen along. The prairie and woe 
generally very firm. but there happened to he a eoft 
epot juet there. and the near fore wheel dropped 
through the and to the huh. I knew that it would re- 
quire a etrong pull to get out, eo I cracked my whip 
and epoke eharply to the team to “Go on." It. eo hap- 
pened that the end of the laeh hit the off wheel on. and 
he eprang forward and wrenched the wagon half 
around, bringing the off fore wheel around while the 
other front wheel remained etationary in the eod. Thie 
wrench wae eo eerere that every epoke in the wheel 
broke off either at the hub or at the felloe. Before 
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leaving Michigan. I had taken the wagon to a wagon 
maker and directed him to thoroughly inspect it and 
make every needed repair. He put in all new spokes 
in the hind wheels. but did nothing to the front wheels. 
saying. “they were all right." 

My overland guide book showed me that the near- 
est settlement in front or in the rear was seventy 
miles distant. The nearest timber in any direction 
was a cotton wood grove twelve miles in our rear and 
it was of no use as it was green and soft. Mr. Parks 
had gone on ahead to overtake a company we had dis- 
covered ahead of us. 

As soon as Mr. Van Dusen, Capt. Parka' partner. 
sawthe fix I was in, herushed on ahead tonotifythe 
captain of our mishap. 

My wife felt very blue. and I must say that I did 
not feel any too well over it. I cheered my wife as 
best I could. and asked her to prepare our lunch. while 
I turned the cattle loose and studied on the matter. 

We had met a few teams going back every day for 
several days and I thought it quite likely that more 
would be along soon on the return trip and I might be 
able to buy pick handles of them. 

Before we had finished our lunch, four returning 
wagons came in. and stopped to feed. I bought twelve 
pic]: handles from them. My wheel required fourteen 
spokes. so I still lacked two. I had in the wagon a. 
straight hickory adz handle. and an ash staff for a 
surveyor’s compass and with these I made up the re- 
quired fourteen spokes. 

Ithensenttwoofthemenofmypartytogather 
brush with which to build a fire to set the tire. I then 
got out my tools. tool: the wheel to pieces and went to 
work to put in the spokes. The two men had to go two 
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miles to gel; the brush and then found only a little short 
willow, not over a quarter inch thick. I had the spokes 
two—thirds in, when Capt. Parks arrived. He picked 
up my hatchet and undertook to help me, but he nearly 
ruined three of the spokes by making the tenants too 
small. Having no way to out and weld the tire to make 
it fit the wheel. I out all the spokes an eighth of an 
inch long, then out off the tops of my bootlegs and put 
pieces of leather between the felloes so as to make the 
wheel a. little larger. The men built a fire in a oircle 
and put the tire on the fire, put on more brush on top 
withthechips Ihadmade, andhadthetirehotbythe 
h e  I had the spokes all in. About ten minutes before 
I was ready to set the tire, a string of wagons going 
our way some in. One of the men, Bill Armsley, by 
name, came to me saying he was a blacksmith and he 
would stop and help me set the the if I would feed him 
until we oould overtake his eompany. I gladly eon- 
sented to this, and we soon had the tire set and were 
on our way. I caught up with Mr. Amsley’s oompany 
and alsowiththetenwagonsofmyowneompanyhs- 
fore noon the next day. The wheel did very good 
service for about two hundred miles, when it began to 
give out, but, before it failed entirely, I came upon a 
wagon that had been left by the road side. The spokm 
had been out out of both hind wheels, and one of the 
fore wheels, to make pickets to picket out cattle. One 
of the front wheels was whole, however. I too]: it off, 
and found it just fitted my axle, so I left my old wheel 
in its place. 

Very soon after our trouble with the broken wheel, 
my son Charles, then not quite three years of age, fell 
out of the wagon and broke his collar bone. After it 
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hadgotwellknittogether,hehadthemisfortuneto 
break it again. 

Shortly after my son’s accident, my wife had the 
misfortune to get her foot oaught under the front end 
of the wagon box—betw een it and the wagon pole, 
and orushed it. She was sitting on the front end with 
her feet hanging over outside the front of the wagon 
box. There was a little narrow gulley aeross the road, 
into which both front wheels dropped just as the wheel 
oxen raised their front feet out of it. This lowering 
of the front of the box and raising of the wagon tongue, 
made a trap in which her foot was oaught, and so badly 
crushed it that she oouid not hear her weight on it for 
weeks. I had to lift her into and out of the wagon 
every time she got in or out for four weeks. 

We had no further mishaps until we were within 
two daya' drive from Laramie, five hundred miles west 
of Omaha, although we met parties every day who were 
returning with doleful tales about Pikes Peak, yet 
none we met had gone there before turning back. We 
not only met them on our side of the Platte, but we 
oouid see them going back on the south aide of the 
river. The greater portion of the rush to Pikes Peak 
traveled on that side. We oouid often see ten or fifteen 
wagons go into oamp in the evening, as they journeyed 
west. In the morning, we would see the greater por- 
tion of them, and sometimes, all of them, turn about 
and start eastward. On one oooasion, a hundred 
wagons turned about and started homeward. 

This did not make much impression on my wife 
and myself, however, as we had made up our minds to 
go on through to California, if we oouid buy 01! our 
eontraet to go to Pikes Peak. 
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GaptParkaleftneaweekbeforewereaehed' 
Iaramie and went on ahead. He traveled on home- 
back. Aiter he left I learned that several of the partiea 
with whom I traveled had deoided to go on to Cali- 
fornia. Among theee. there were two men who owned 
an outfit of air: yoke of oxen. one large wagon and one 
smaller wagon, and a good etook of provieiona. 

I arranged with them to take my two yoke of oxen 
in payment for taking myaelf and family through to 
Maryaville. California. They were to pay me oaeh for 
what foodstufi I had. My reaaone for having them 
take me through, instead of going on my own account, 
were: 1. I would have to buy oi! Capt. Parks and Co; 
2. Iwouldhavetoeellallmyfoodtodothie;3. My 
wagon waa not safe for me to depend on for eo long a 
trip: 4. I feared that I might loee an o: or two on the 
way. 

I therefore drew up a oontraet to be ratified at 
Iaramie. after I had arranged a eettlI-ent with 
Captain Parka and the other four men. In the eon- 
traet, it was agrmd that my wife and the two children 
weretobepermitted toride all the way ifthey desired 
to do ao. I waa to ride whenever I waa unable to walk. 
I was not to be required to do any work whatever ea:- 
eept to look after my family. The men who eooked for 
thou. Meeera. Fieher and Shelton. were to oook for on. 
Iwaenottobereqniredtolookafterortodrive any 
of the oattle. either in the yoke or who. looae. I was 
only to wait on. my family. 

I made theee arrangements on Friday. two days 
before reaching Laramie. and then in the afternoon 
made my camp and lay by over Sabbath. Mr. Van 
Duaen got a bottle of whiehy from aome returning 
Pikea Peakera, Sabbath morning and went on a reg- 
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ular earousal, drinking and gambling all day with the 
Pikes Peak retreaters. The next morning he re- 
fused togo on, ortoget up and leave the tent, saying 
he would not travel on Sunday. My wife and children 
had always slept in the wagon and the six men, sis: in- 
cludingmyself. all slept in thetent. The tenthadbe- 
longed wholly to me at first, but when the five men 
overtook rue near Columbus Park, Van Dusen paid me 
for one fourth its east, and three of the others paid for 
another fourth of its cost. 

On Sunday morning. I nofified Van Dusen that I 
waagoingon. and invitedhimtogetup andtalte 
breakfast with me. 

Thisherefusedtodo. AfterbrealtfastIloaded 
everything into the wagon exeept the tent, Van 
Dusen’s suit ease. and bed. The men. all except Van 
Dusen, wished to go and Mr. Van Dusen still refused 
to get up. saying that he owned one-fourth of the tent, 
and he would not leave it. ‘Werv well." I said, “I own 
one-halfofthetent, andIaIngoingon. Ifyouwish 
tostay. Iwilleutthetentintwo and takemvhalf with 
me." “Take our part along also." said the two 
who owned the other fourth. I then took out of its 
case a large knife and began to out out one-fourth of 
the tent to leave. - Seeing this. Van Dusen speedi 
arosegrahbedhisclothes,andranofitodress. lini- 
mediately folded up the tent and put it and the tent 
poles in the wagon, then rolled up Van Dusen's bed 
and put it and his vslise in the wagon and started on. 
the team being alreadyr hitched up before he was 
dressed. 

If he had ordered his things left, I should have 
letbimtakethll outofthewsgonand gone on. buthe 
did not show himself until late in the afternoon. Van 
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Dusen had learned that I was going on to California, 
and the next morning he hurried on to Laramie to 
nofify Capt. Parks. I had said nothing to Van Dusen 
ahoutmychangeof pMeasIhadmadetheoontraet 
to take the freight with Parks, and he was the man I 
would have to settle with. I knew that I would have 
no trouble with the two men about their part of the 
freight, but I expected some di flioulty in settling with 
Parks. 

I reached Laramie a little after sundown. There 
were more than a thousand men there planning 
whethertogoontoPikes Peakortoreturn. ortogo 
on to California. 

I put my oxen away to graze. We ate our supper 
andtheaentinsearehofCapt. Parks. Isoon 
found him behind a whisky barrel selling whisky at 
ten cents a glass. 

He was more than half drunk. I said, "Capt. 
Parks, I would like to have a little talk with you. as 
soon as you can make it eonyenien " _ 

"I will see you at such a place." designating the 
spot, "in a half hour." he said. I was very much sur- 
prised on going to the plaee with my wife and children, 
to find that the whole of the 1000 campers were gath- 
ering there. 

Capt. Parks put in his appearanoe, but instead of 
having a talk with me. he took his stand on a be: and 
addressed the erowd about as follows: _ 

“Gentlemen. I have called you together for the 
purpose of having you try a ease. I made a eontraet 
with Mr. Kellogg to have . him take some freight 
through to Pikes Peak for myself and Mr. Van Dusen. 
my partner. We paid him in adsanee and he now re- 
fuses to go. I want you to try the ease and show him 
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that there is a law out here on the plains, even if there 
are no settlers living here." There was only a trading 
station there, Laramie being the name given to the 
place where the road to Pikes Peak diverged from the 
California road. There was, however, a station for 
soldiers, called Fort Laramie, a few miles from this 
place. 

Perks then, without giving me a chance to say a 
word, demanded that a sh erifl' be app oi nted to summon 
a jury of twelve men to hear the evidence and decide 
the case. The crowd new became an excited mob, all 
eager to see some fun, many of them being more or less 
under the influence of the whisky Parks had sold them, 

Seeing the excitement all were in, I decided not 
to say anything at present, but to wait and see how 
things would develop. 

A sheriff was selected and he appointed a jury of 
twelve men, all of which was done inside of ten or 
fifteen minutes. 

Capt. Perks told his story quite correctly as far as 
the contract between us was concerned, but quite in- 
correctly es far as my refusing to go through to Pikes 
Peak was concerned. After he had told his story, the 
j ury'eshed me if I wished to make a statement. 

I said, "Yes, I do." I then took out the contract 
and read it and acknowledged having received pay- 
ment in advance. I then told of the way Parks and 
Van Dusen had violated the contract by taking pos- 
session of the temn on the Sabbath, and how they had 
losttheonlyeelhad. Ithen told themthetlhed 
never refused to see that their freight was put down 
attheplaecwherelhed agreedtoputit, norbedI 
ever spoken a word to either of the men on the sub- 
ject of going to California, or they to me. Continu- 
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ing,lsaid,"Iamreadytomakegoodonmyoontract, 
hutIamnotgoingmyselfanynearer Pikes Peakthan 
I am at this present moment" 

When I had finished. the jury retired for a few 
minutes, and then returned. saying they had agreed 
that "Mr. Kellogg’s team must go on with the freight 
to Pikes Peak. He can leave his family here until he 
returns, then he oan go on to California. or elsewhere 
as he may choose, but he must fulfill his contrast." 

I then said, "Gentlemen. I am only one, you are a 
thousand. I am powerless so far as preventing your 
taking the team is oonoerned. but I will say this. 
neither my family nor myself are going any nearer 
Pikes Peak than we now are." "' 

As I finished, my wife limped forward. leaning on 
her me. her foot being still very lame. When she had 
attracted the attention of the mob. she said, "Gentle- 
men. the team belongs to me and it is not going a step 
farther on the road to Pikes Peak. We are going to 
California.” This made quite a sensation. 

Mr. Van Dusen had said nothing so far, but he 
now eame forward and said, "I had heard that Mr. 
Kellogg wanted to go to California so I have been 
looking for a man to take the freight off his hands, 
and I have found a man who will take it all through 
for thirty dollars. 

I was now free, as the thirty dollars paid for 
tsfing both lots of freight on to the end. I had in the 
meantime turned my teams and supplies over to 
Fisher and Shelton, they haying signed the eontraet 
to take us through to California. 

We did not start on our westward trip for a day 
or two. as a party was to be made up who would travel 
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together, for we were to pass through an Indian 
country. 

Our party, when made up, consiamd of forty-one 
resolute men, all sound in body and limb, and all be- 
tween the ages of twenty-five and fortyufive. Four of 
the men had their families with them, making up a 
company, all told, of forty-one men, four women, and 
seven children. We had fifteen wagons, fort}.r yoke of 
oxen, two cows, and one saddle horse. The men were 
all armed, some with rifles and all with revolvers or 
pistols. 

We organised by electing a captain, whose dutyr it 
would. be to decide when and where to camp and to 
appoint the night guard for the cattle, four being re- 
quired generallv,—two, from the time of camping unfil 
midnight, the other two relieving them then. Oc- 
casionally only one would be on guard at a time. All 
were to take their regular time or provide a substitute. 

Mr. Ide and Mr. Esthers, who were this innocent 
cause of my having my team taken from me by Capt. 
Parks and his men, as herein before mentioned, were 
going on to California with the new party. 

One road kept up the north side of the North 
Platte until we came to the Sweetwater River, a hun- 
dred miles or thereaboute, west of Laramie. The 
Sweetwater was a branch of the Platte. 

There was a bridge across the North Platte, just 
below the mouth of the Sweetwater river. Th ere was 
apostoficeandastorethere also. Thisplace was 
called North Platte Bridge. I mailed a letter home to 
Battle Creek from this place, the onlyr letter I sent 
from the time of leaving Battle Creek until I arrived in 
California. We did not see a single house, except the 
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Indian huts. for more than thirteen hundred miles. as 
we pursued our westward journey. 

We had no mishap for several weeks after leaving 
Laramie. The weather was fine. the days being warm. 
the sky cloudless. and the nights just the right tem- 
perature for sound sleeping. There were no Indians 
to trouble us. We had to guard our cattle well at 
night, howeve r. for the wolves we re very pl entiful, 
going in bands of five or six up to thirty or forty in a 
bunch. They did not attack our cattle. however. for 
we kept too close guard for them. They did attack and 
hill three oxen. and wounded several others belonging 
to a company who were a couple of days ahead of us. 
who were careless about guarding their stock at night. 

The roads soon became very dusty. making travel- 
ing very uncmnfortable. Our faces soon became so 
covered with dust that by ten o’clock in the morning. 
no part of the flesh could be seen. We all looked as if 
we were made wholly of dust, even as the Bible says. 

As we traveled up the Sweetwater. the level 
prairie changed into rolling prairie and that into low 
hill country, so that we frequently had to climb a hill 
with our wagon. It was seldom. however. that we de- 
scended a hill while going up the Sweetvmter. 

Feed began to grow quite scarce: we frequently 
would have to drive our cattle back two or three miles 
from the road. to find feed for them. We always had 
to camp for the night where we could have plenty of 
pure wamr for ooofing. bathing, and for our cattle. 
There was always plenty in the river. Very frequently 
the bluffs shut the river in so close that no grass 
oould grow for want of soil on which to grow. In such 
cases. we would camp near the river and drive our cat- 
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tle back to feed en the hills. Guarding the eattle at 
night was ne pleasant j eb at sueh times. 

I remember ene night I was called at midnight to 
go to the hills to relieve the guard and bring in the 
eattle at seven e'eleck in the merning. The re was ne 
meen, but the sky was cleudless. I had ne idea where 
to leek fer the eattle except that at the time they were 
turned leese they were driven nerth. ever a leng lew 
hill and were eut ef sight ef eamp. I wandered about 
in the sage brush until I feund them three miles frem 
eamp in a plaee where there was plenty ef hunch grass. 
The eattle were all lying dewn. the guard also. and I 
weuld have missed them had I net happened to find 
them directly in my pathway. I sheuted fer the guard, 
reused him and sent him into eamp. As seen as there 
was any appearanee ef daylight in the east, I get the 
name up to graze. and then. after they had well filled 
themselves. dreve them in. The eattle seemed to knew 
what weuld be required ef them and were leath te leave 
good feed fer hard werk. I had much trouble getting 
them in. 

We had plenty ef fleur, eern meal, and bacon. also 
a little dried fruit, dried apples enly, hewever. We 
also had seme melasaes and a little sugar. and some 
white beans. but ne vegetables ef any kind. We had 
plenty of biearbenate of soda. else. Our prineipal 
bread was in the term of pancakes. We eraved fresh 
meat and meaaienally get an antelope. a deer er a jack 
rabbit. Onee we had buil'ale beef and enee grizzly 
hear meat. We frequently saw antel epes but they were 
very shy and it was very seldem that we eeuld get near 
them. I remember we laid ever both Saturday and 
Sunday. while geing up the Sweetwater. at a plaee 
where the nearest feed was. two miles back frem the 
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river. Sunday morning I took my gun and went in 
searehofansntelope. Whenahoutthreemileebaek 
from the road. I discovered one a mile farther on. It 
was feedingonthesideofalowhill. Itsawmeand 
in a moment it ran off over the hill, out of sight. 

The ground between me and the hilltop raised 
only about three feet in a hundred, and was well eov- 
eredwithgrassafoothigh. Ikeptonmyway until 
within about one hundred yards of the hilltop, then I 
lay down flat on my stomach and orawled to the top, 
whiehwssalsooovered withgrass. Ithentookofimy 
white straw hat and peered over to see if the beast was 
within eight. I saw the animal but it was not within 
shooting distance. I therefore set about flagging it 
to me. 

The antelope is very knowing. It knows every 
foot of its feeding ground and is quick to detect any 
new object that appears on the ground. If it disoovers 
a new object moving about, it flees to a place of safety. 
or at least to a hiding plaoe. If it diseovers a strange 
object that is motionless, it has a great ouriosity to 
ascertain what it is and whether it is dangerous 

As soon as I saw the antelope feeding on the back- 
sideoi’thehill, Iplaeedmyhaton theend oftheram- 
rod and held it up where the animal oould see it. The 
grass was suihoilltly high to hide me, yet by pulling it 
apart, I oould see without being seen. In less than a 
minute. it saw my hat, gazed at it, took a few steps 
toward me, stopped a moment, then eame on a few 
steps and stopped again. It oontinued to advanee in 
this manner until within ten rods of me. I then 
dropped the ramrod. leveled my gun and fired, but, the 
moment my hat fell to the ground, the antelope wheeled 
and ran and did not stop until out of sight. My shot 
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missedit. Iwasnowaboutfiyeorsiamilesfronl 
Mp. Onmywaybaekltookadiflerentrouteand 
came across a little hollow of about ten aeres. There 
was no grass in this hollow. but it eontained thousands 
of low shrubs, about a foot and a half high. Thme 
shrubs were ”PEI? bushy and stood from eight to ten 
feet apart over the entire hollow. A big jack rabbit 
or hare was feeding on nearly every shrub. I made 
one shot and got a hare that weighed about twelve 
pounds. So we had rabbit stew for a oouple of days. 
That was the only animal that I killed on the entire 
trip. I also filled one rattlesnake. 

On another oeeasion when out hunting for meat. 
I eame near stumbling over an antelope as it lay asleep. 
There were several stones about the size an antelope 
would be when eurled up sleeping. seattsred about. and 
I was about to step over what I took to be a stone. 
when. lo. it jumped up and ran ofl’ in a great fright. I 
was so startled that I eould not shoot straight and it 
got away. 

Messrs. Fisher and Shelton had with them fire or 
six fine young men who were working their way. one 
as eook, the others as eattle drivers. wood and water 
gatherers. etc. The name of the cook was Clark. One 
day. while we were going up the Sweetwater. Mr. 
Clark said or did something that ofiended Mr. Shelton. 
whereupon Shelton struck him over the head with the 
butt of a hickory whip stock, and knocked him down. 
Clark jumped up and struck at Shelton with his list, 
but did not hit him. Shelton knocked him down again 
with" the whip stock and again a third. and a fourth 
time. Clark was very plucky and sprang up and struck 
at Shelton after eaeh blow but did not ones hit him. 
As Clark rose from the ground the fourth time. Shelton 
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drew his revolver and held it cooked within a foot of 
Clark’s face. But, before he fired. one of the other 
men drew his revolver and. almost touching Shelton's 
faee. said, "You shoot and I will shoot." Neither of 
them shot, howeve r. as Shelton dropped his gun and 
stepped off. 

' When we camped that evening. Mr. Fisher told 
shelton that he would not travel with a man that would 
draw a pistol on a fellow traveler. He would go no 
further until they divided up teams, wagons, provi- 
sions and passengers. So they divided, Fisher took four 
yoke of the cattle. the big wagon. and all of the young 
men passengers. leaving myself and family to go with 
Shelton. We did not like this. for Mr. Fisher was a 
gentleman. We were he] pleas, however. and could do 
nothing. 

After dividing up, we left my wagon behind, pat- 
ting our goods into the wagon that Shelton took. After 
the division. my work became very hard for I now had 
to do all the work of getting wood and water and all 
the cooking. as my wife was still too lame to get about 
to do anything. I also had to see to getting hitched up. 
and to drive part of the time. Soon after this. we met 
some parties who wanted to buy provisions and Shelton 
sold all our fruit and everything except flour. corn 
meal. a. piece of bacon. and our baking soda, selling the 
sugar. too. He kept some of the molasses. however. 
From that time on we had pancakes and molasses, or 
pancakes and gravy three times a day and that for 
weeks until we got to our journey’s end. 

Mr. Shelton had been conducting himself toward 
myself and family in such a manner that I had to do 
something for our protection. I therefore reported 
himtothecaptainofour train. avery nieemamand, 
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one morning before starting. he called the men all to- 
gether to hear my complaint. I told my story. my wife 
told here. and our daughter told here. The company 
aeked him what he had to any. He aaid nothing. They 
then. by a three-fifths vote. took hie teams, wagons 
and proviaiona from him and put them into my hands, 
agreeing to nee me cafe through to California. Mr. 
Shelton was to have nothing to do with the outfit until 
we got through. He wan to he allowed to eat such food 
as I prepared for my family. I did not like the arrange- 
ment, not even a little hit, an it put all the work onto 
me. I said nothing. however. The teama were all 
hitched up except Shelton’a. and ready to atart. The 
captain bade me hitch up. he I started to yoke up. 
Mr. Shelton followed me. eaying he would shoot the 
first man who touched one of the yokea to yoke up the 
cattle. Hr. Ide. of whom I have previously epoken. 
ran to his wagon and got a long lariat, or rope. and. 
running up to Shelton, he uttered a fearful oath, cay- 
ing. "Shelton. you drew your pinto! to shoot one man 
and now you have threatened another. If you do either 
again. we’ll hang you an aure ae you are a living man." 
Two other reaolute young men followed Mr. Ide, back- 
ing up his atatementa. Shelton waa terribly frightened 
and walked away. I yoked up and drove on with the 
rent. Mr. Shelton did not put in his appearance until 
just before we camped for the night. 

There were aeveral reaeona why I waa not aaflefled 
with the arrangement: 

lot. It put all the work of caring for the oxen. 
getting wood and water, cooking. etc... onto me. in addi- 
tion to caring for my crippled wife. and our children. 

2nd. If for any reaeon the company should eon- 
arate, or if any of our cattle ahould die. Shelton. with 

[39] 

. . . Driginat from 
DFEIIUEEd 5‘! GOOSIE UNl"u..r'E|1..'-':+IT‘Tr OF MICHIGAN 



NOTES CONCERNING THE EELLOGGB 

thoee who did not vote. might not no out on the deeert. 
After thinking the mattu over. I called the oom- 

pany together after eup per. Shelton being pment. I 
then told them that if Mr. Shelton would eome before 
the company and promiee to act the part of a gentle— 
man to me and my family. I would put everything back 
into hie hande juet ae they had been. 

ThiBwaemorethanheexpeoted. Hethenae~ 
knowledged having done wrong and agreed to eonduet 
hlmaelf properly from then on. 

We were now north of the great Salt lake. It 
wae the eaptai n'e intention to try Shelton the evening 
before but four grizzly benre got among our cattle juet 
before eundown and all hands in our parlry, and in an- 
other party. had to go out to protect the eattle. Our 
party name in. in about an hour. bringing in an eighty 
pound eub they had killed. The next morning they 
went out to the bru eh where the beam were and found 
the mother beer and another euh dead that they had 
shot the evening before. The old male bear got away. 
There were between eighty and ninety men. women and 
childreninthetwopartiee. Thethreebearewere 
dreeeed and divided pro-ratio among ue. 

When I proeured euppliee in Omaha for my trip 
to Pikee Peak, I did not get any boote or ehoee for 
a n y o f u e . a e w e e a c h h n d t w o g o o d p a i r e t h a t w e  
brought from Battle Creek. They were all pegged, 
that ie. the_eolee were feetened on with wooden pege 
inetead of being nailed or eewed on. Ae we journeyed 
weet, thedry roads eaueed thepege inmyehoeeto get 
looee and eome ofi at the toee, and I wae obliged to go 
barefoot eeveral hundred milee. I finally bought a 
halfofaBufialoeHnofan Indian andgothie equaw 
to make me a few paire of mooeaeine out of it. She 
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sewed them together with an owl and sinew. taken 
from the neck of an elk. She worked several hours at 
them. About noon, the Indian took a nice fat prairie 
dog out of the hot ashes in which it had been meeting 
and he. his wife and their little girl, about seven yearn 
of age. had their feed. The}!r invited me to eat with 
them. The dog was about the nine of a large eat. It 
was roasted with out being skinned. or having its on- 
trails removed. I did not partake with them for I had 
no appetite for meat cooked in that way, although the 
meat looked as niee as roast pig. of which I had often 
eaten in my boyhood days. 

Iwasgladtogetthemoccaeinmaetheeolesof 
mvfeetwere wornthrough and Inowhadawayof .  
protecting them. I would wear a pair of the moc- 
caeine until my feet got well. then go barefoot as long 
an I could and then put them on again for a few dayn. 

While traveling up the Sweetwater. we had no 
trouble with the Indiana. and everything moved along 
smoothly. with the exception of the trouble the dust 
gave no. 

We reached the South Pane. the highest point on 
our road, about 8, 000 feet above sea level about J uly 
10th. Thus for our journey had been an ascending 
one. It now became a descending one, for we had now 
reached the divide between the waters flowing to the 
Atlantic and the waters flowing to the Pacific. We 
found some springs at the foot of Freemont’s Peak. 
Theee springs arose out of a bog about an acre in ex- 
tent. The bag was covered with green grass, the sod 
being from six inches to a feet thick. Underneath 
the sod we found. wherever we dug, a bed of solid ioe 
teninchesthick. Inshoutthemiddleoftbebog,a 
stream of water three feet wide and two feet deep 
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broke through the ins and ran swiftly aw a1. This 
spring was the source of Green River. or one of the 
souroes. 

Afte: leaning South Pass, we left the Salt Lake 
road_on which we had been traveling. and took Land- 
er’s out-oil. the meet northerly of three routes. The 
Salt Lake road was long and orooked and around the 
south end of Salt Lake. through Salt Lake City. Sub- 
let's out-off was the middle route. and ran south of the 
lake. but did not go very near the oity. Landers' outs 
all ran around the north end of the lake and was much 
the shortest, as both the other routes had to join it 
west and north of the lake. Land er’s out-eff ran direct 
over Bear River mountains instead of going through a 
rim canyon as the Salt Lake read did. 

We crossed Bear River in going over these moun- 
tains, eamping two days on the river bank, where feed 
was good. It was while eamping here that I get the 
squaw to make the moccasins for me. 

After leaving Bear River. we soon came upon a 
wide range of low, gentlyr sloping mountains. on which 
we found neither feed nor water for our teams. We 
climbed the range all day. passed its summit and 
eamped after sundown. with no grass or water in 
sight. The cattle were all turned loose and Bill Arma- 
ley. the blacksmith who helped me set my wagon tire. 
was sent out to guard them. 

The sky was cloudlesa. the moon was full, and the 
eattle were too weary to wander f ar, so one man oould 
keepthemtogether. .IIIIrmalenr wastecallamantore- 
liege him at one o'clock. Having no time piece of his 
own. he borrowed one from a Mr. Tufl'. It was a gold- 
eased watch, worth eighty dollars. At about eleven 
rm... I was wakened by hearing some person walking 
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about my tent. Upon stepping out to learn who it was. 
I diseorered Mr. dirmslepr with a lantern searching for 
something on the ground. ‘ ‘ t t  is the tro able, 
Bill," I asked. "I have lost Tufi's watch," he replied. 

Remembering his kindness in helping me set my 
wagon tire, I said, "Billy, I will go and herd the esttle, 
you find the watch." “Thank you,” he said. “You 
will find them all lying down eaeept one of the cows. 
I have had lots of trouble in trying to keep her from 
sharing away; I think she smells water up the ravine, 
for she is determined to go up there." "All right," 
said I. “I will look out for her." 

I found the cattle all lying down about a quarter 
of a mile from eamp, all eneept the eew he spoke of. 
She was twenty rods awayr and going towards a low 
ravine. I ran to head her off, jummng ever rocks and 
cactus as I ran. I had not run far before my eye eaught 
the glimmer of something bright on the ground. At 
first it did not partieularly attract my attention, as my 
mind was en the eew. After a minute it eeeurred to 
me that nothing but burnished gold would reflect meen- 
light as brightly as that ebjeet did and I turned back to 
see what it was. It proved to be Tufi’s gold watch. 
Billy had dropped it out of his pocket while running 
to head off the eew from straying away. After getting 
the eew back with the rest of the cattle, I returned to 
eamp. Armslep was still searching for the watch. 
"Billy," said I. as I handed him the watch, “Here is the 
lost watch. You did me a good turn a few weeks ago. 
I guess we are even now." “Where did you find it?" 
asked he. I told him where and how I found it. He 
then remembered that he ran to head off the eew and 
jumped ever make and eaetus just as I did. In all 
probabilityr he would never have found it, for I f ound 
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it a quarter of a mile from where he was looking for it. 
A few days later we came to a valley in which we 

found a small river and a large Indian village—the 
first we had seen on our route. Grass was plenty at 
this place so we camped at 10 LE. and stayed there 
until the next morning. The village was composed of 
about forty or fifty tents. covered with elk skins. The 
tents were all made after the same style. but were of 
different sites. Some were as much as twenty feet 
across. One that was occupied by the old Chief and 
hie four young wives, was at least tMrty feet across. 
The greater number were from fifteen to twenty feet 
across. All of them were circular in form and ran to 
a point in the center. with an opening at the top to let 
the smoke out, as they built their fires on the ground. 
in the center. 

The old chief had a broken leg at the time we 
were there. I thought at one time that we would have 
trouble for the young Indians rushed to the tables at 
which our women and children were about to sit down 
to dinner, the men having eaten and left Mp to stroll 
about the village. The Indians left nothing for the 
women and children. We had no further trouble. 
however. 

A day or two later. one of our company. a fine 
young man, was accidentally shot and killed with his 
own gun. His name was Henry Langdon. He had 
been driving the Taft brothers' eight on: team, walking 
by their sidm. Coming to a long stretch of level road, 
he stepped in behind the wheel eaten and seated himself 
on the front end of the wagon boar. with his feet hang- 
ing over in front. His gun was loaded and hung up 
under the top of the wagon cover. the muzzle pointed 
forward. Somehow. the sling in which the gun was 

[94]- 

Driginsi from 
DigitiEEd 5‘! GOOSIE UNl"I..r'EH.'-':+IT“|'r OF MICHIGAN 



NOTES CONCERNING THE EELLOGGS 

hanging get loose. and. as the gun fell, it discharged a 
charge of buckshet into the back of Langdon’s head. 
killing him instantly. 

We buried the poor fellow at our eamping plaoe 
that evening. 

Soon after this we had a twenty mile drive up a 
long mountain side and a ten mile drive down the other 
side. with no feed or water for our cattle. It was 
Friday. and. eoming to a little valley where we found 
both grass and water. we deei ded to stop ever two days 
and let our teams rest and feed. Sunday afternoon 
about a dozen Indians came down a mountain just 
ahead and eamped near us. In the evening about 
twenty more came down. bringing with them an on: 
that they had stolen from some train ahead of us. 
They killed and eooked the on: and had a great earousal 
until near morning. They left j eat before sunrise. and 
we saw no more of them. We had feared an attack 
from them all night and still feared. so we kept a good 
lookout for them. 

We left eamp at about eight o’clock mm. Monday. 
and drove seven miles up the mountain to its summit, 
then one and one-half miles down its western slope and 
eame to a niee spring. but found no grass. This spring 
was at the head of a ravine which we followed for 
twelve or fifteen miles. 

At first, the ravine was very shallow. but, as we 
advanced, it grew deeper until it was more than a 
thousand feet below the mountain ridge on each side. 
In many plaoes the ravine was not more than twenty 
feet wide at the bottom; in some places it was several 
rods wide. 

When about one-fourth the way down. we met 
four Indians on horse back. They passed on on the 

[95] 

Original from 
DigitiEEd 5‘! GOOSIE UNl"I..r'EH.'-':+IT“|'r OF MICHIGAN 



NOTES CONCERNING THE EELLOGGS 

run and we at back toward where they had camped 
the night before. An hour and a half later they came 
back, running their horaea aa before. One of our men' 
waa about two milea ahead of ua when the Indiana 
first met ua. After they paaaed him, he at down and 
waited for no. When we came up, he told ua that one 
of the Indiana asked him how many wagona we had, 
how many men, how my game? Having no aua- 
piciona, he anawered correctly, "ten wagona, forty 
men and forty guna." They then aaked if there were 
any wagona following ua. Thia he could not anawer 
for we did not know of any wagona being behind ua, 
but hia auapiciona were now arouaed and he told them 
that “a hundred wagona were coming not far behind 
no." They then rode on and paaaed ua, evidently to 
aee if any wagcna were in camp at the place where we 
had camp-ed the two previoua nighta. 

Soon after thia, four Indiana paaaed no on their 
way back. We diacovered them making their way out 
of the ravine up the mountain aide, the mountaina be- 
ing nearly a thouaand feet high. 

Our captain thereupon borrowed the only horac 
in our train and followed them. He aoon came back 
and told no that he rode to the top of the mountain and 
there, behind ita creat, he aaw about fifty Indiana, all 
of whom were armed. He ordered our head wagon 
to atop until all the wagona caught up, ten in all, and 
told all the women and children to keep in the wagona 
out of eight. He then had every man arm himaelf, 
placing ten men ahead, ten men behind, and one man 
on each aide of the ten wagona. We then drove a few 
milea farther to where our ravine opened out into a 
email valley. Into this valley another ravine opened, 
from the op poaite aide of the mo untaia on which the 
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eaptain saw the fifty Indians. We met about thirty 
Indians at the Intranee to the valley. ThIey were 
mostly squaws and children and a few old men. We 
now felt easy as the Indians do not make an attack 
when their women and children will be in danger. 
We therefore went into camp for feed and watet were 
both abundant. The eaptain put out a good strong 
guard for the night, however. 

We learned a few weeks later that these same In- 
dians went back the day we saw them and out oi! one 
train of twelve men at the spring where we stopped 
the two days, killed one man and took twenty-six oxen 
—all they had. This they did the same night that we 
were eainped in the little valley I spoke of. The next 
morning they out ofl another eompauy of ten men, who 
did not get to the spring until seven am. They killed 
one man and took all their cattle. At noon of. that 
same Tuesday, they out off a train of four wagons, at 
the head of the ravine above mentioned. Two of me 
men were killed and one child wounded. and the most 
of their twenty horses and mules were taken. 

With this last eompany there were three brothers. 
the owners of the outfit, whose names were Shepherd. 
all married men—their wives and children being with 
them. A sister of the three men. and her husband and 
two children were with them. All four of these men 
were killed. 

One of these four women had a babe only a few 
weeks old. She managed to eeeape with her babe 
unhurt, after she saw her husband killed. She started 
backtowhere weeamped thetwodayaeightandone- 
halfmileshaek. Oneofthernllwhohadbeenshot 
throughtheamovertookherandtookherbabeand 
ranoni'ortweorthreemiles,leavingthemotherto 
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follow on. Fearing he might give out before reaching 
theeamp.hehidthebabeinaelumpofsagebrush. and 
ran on. There was a patch of about ten acres of wild 
sage. the brush standing in clumps here and there. 
Some of the stalks were five or air: inches thick and 
ten or twelve feet high. with thick foliage. It was in 
such a bush that the child was hidden. When the 
mother came to this patch of sage brush, she, too. hid 
in it until night, then went on to the eamp. not know- 
ing that the child was left behind. Her distress was 
very great when she learned the facts. 

About noon a very large party same to where the 
people were. and. picking up all who had lost their 
teams. drove up the mountain eight and one-half miles. 
to where the last team was out ofi'. Coming to the 
patch of sage brush. they found the child alive and un- 
hurt, but very hungry. Coming to where the horse 
and mule team was out oil. they buried the five dead 
men. found the three women and all the children and 
took them in. 

George W. Mills. a man with whom I have been 
personally aequainted for more than forty years. was 
a member of one of the three eompanies above men- 
tioned. I heard the story while still on the way to 
California, a few weeks after the men were lfilled. 
some of the survivors having overtaken us. Mr. Mills 
eoni'irmed the story after I became aequainted with 
him here in California. 

One of the young oxen which I took in exchange 
for my horses while passing through I owa, wore his 
feet so that they bled from the bottom at every step 
he took. not long after Fisher and Shelton had dis-_ 
solved partnership. A day or two aim we discovered 
thatthefeetoftheoawerebleeding. weeameaeroes 
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aetockmanwhowaapaaturingaherd ofeattle. moatly 
eowa and young atoek, in a valley where feed and water 
were plentiful. Mr. Shelton traded with the stock 
man,takingaeowineachangeforthelameo1. Had 
he kept the on. I should have aerewed aome aole leather 
onto hie feet for Ihoea. an I did one of Heaara. Eathera' 
and men oxen that had worn his feet through. I had 
bought a large pieoe of eole leather and a green of 
small aerewe, when in Omaha, for that very purpoee. 
if needed. 

We yoked the eow in with the odd or; and traveled 
on. A few daya later. we came aeroae another stock 
man who had a herd of Texan eattle that he wae pae- 
turing. Mr. Shelton made a trade with him, taking a 
pair of large. long-legged. big-horned Texas ateera in 
eaehange for the eow and odd on. These Texan ateera 
were very wild and had never been handled in any 
way ainee they were branded. when calvea. It took a 
dozen men to oatch and yoke them. We hitched them 
in no third team in our four yoke atring. We put a 
large strong pair in aa wheel oxen, then the Tenaa 
pair. and two large atrong pair ahead of them. uaing 
the beat pair of tho-ea I brought from Iowa aa leaders, 
and auperb leadera they were. Putting the Tenaa 
oxen in the middle of our teama aa we did, left them 
no ehanee to do anything but walk along and pull. and 
we noon had them well in hand. all exoept in yoking 
up. and in thia we conquered them after a few weeks, 
ao that the two of on were able to eatch and yoke them. 

Our route north of the great Salt Lake took an 
over to Raft River. a branch of Salmon River. Here 
we found feed and water in abundanee. We found 
nearly a hundred wagons in com: here. reeruiting the 
atrength of their oxen. Bur eompany atopped two 
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daystorestandfeedourstmhandthenwentonhy 
ourselves. 

A few days law we were overtaken by a small 
Mpany who were in eamp at Raft River when we 
left They told us that at noon of the day we left a 
lone horseman came into eamp and reported that a 
boy eighteen years of age had shot end killed a man in 
a eommny of ten men, one woman and her daughter, 
a girl of seventeen. The horseman was one of their 
oompany. He said that the woman was married to the 
father of the boy, making her the boy’s stepmother, 
and her husband the girl 's stepfather. The man that 
was killed was the woman's brother and the girl’s 
uncle. He said that the girl had frequently reported 
to her mother that the boy, or young man, for he was 
a full-grown man, was in the habit of using insulting 
language to her whenever he found her alone and that 
he had twice made an indeeent assault on her. 

The mother reported the oomplaint of her daugh- 
ter to her husband but he would not, or eould not, do 
anything about it. She then reported the ease to her 
brother, the girl's uncle. He thereupon took the youth 
to task for what he was doing, threatening to punish 
him if be repeated his assaults. This oeeurred in the 
evening. The next morning the youth got up at day- 
break, stole the uncle’s rifle from his bedside, as he 
lay asleep and absented himself from camp until 
breakfast time. When he returned he found the uncle 
washing his hands and faee, preparing for breakfast. 
He then, without a word of warning, shot him dead. 
After breakfast the body was placed in a wagon and 
the party drove on for the camp ahead. The horse- 
manrodeonandtoldthelargeeampwhathadoe- 
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curred. The company in which the murder occurred 
didnot arrive until aftfl euneet. 

After they had driven up the young man wan- 
dered around the camp and entered a tent. He heard 
oneofthementel ltheotherthatamanhadheen 
killed that morning by one of the men in the company 
that had just arrived. When the boy heard the etory. 
he eaid, "I am the pereon who killed that man." One 
of the men eaid, "You are, are you? I gume we will 
attend to your caee in the morning." Thie occurred the 
evening after our company left. 

The next morning the entire company got together. 
heard the ev idence, and voted to hang the boy one 
hour later. When the hour wae up they ran two 
wagone front to front, quite near each other. They 
then raised the wagon tonguee. tied the ende together, 
blocked the wheele. feetened the boy'e hande together 
behind hie back. tied hie feet and hie kneee together. 
put a rope around hie neck, put the end of the rope 
through the end of the wagon polee and pulled up 
until hie feet no longer touched the ground and kept 
him thue euepended until he wae dead. They then let 
him down, buried both bodice aide by eide and then all 
partiee hitched up, and drove on juet thirty houre be- 
hind ue. I eaid all partiee drove on. The hoy’e father 
did not drive on. He stayed hack for another com- 
PW- . 

Thiewaetheetorytoldtoueafewdayelater, 
when eome of the company overtook ue. A year later 
I met a man in California who crmd the plaine the 
year that I did. We were telling each other of our 
own personal eaperiencee and he related thie eame 
story. Itoldhimlhadhearditeoonafteritoccurred 
and I hardly knew whether to believe it or not. 'He 
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answered me that it wae true in every particular. aay- 
ing. "I know it to be true for I did the hanging." I 
hayealwayebeengladthateeonedayaheadand 
had no part in that matter. 

A few daye later. ae we were camped for dinner, 
a man rode into our camp. He wee riding a mule and 
leading another riderleee mule which wee saddled. He 
aaidthathieoompanywaetenmileeaheadandthat 
with them there wae a young women who was about to 
beeonfined. Heeaidthatehewaetheonlywoman in 
their company. Her hueband waa a young man and 
theyhadnotbeenmarried qmmayear. Allofthe 
men. ten in all. in their company, were. with one en- 
eeption, eingle men. The one exception wee a rough 
aortofefellow. Heeeid he had eomebackineemh 
of a women to help the young women in her trouble. 

Leaningthatmywifewae lame. hetriedfiratto 
get one of the other women to go to her help. but they 
all refueed. He then came to our wagon end told hie 
etory. It touched my wife'e heart end ehe eaid. "I am 
lame. end ought not to go. but that women neede 
help. If I knew that the mole wee gentle. I would go 
with you." He eeeured her that it wee ae gentle an a 
lamb. She then slipped on a pair of my trousere under 
her dreee. then mounted the mole man-fashion, and 
galloped away with the men. . 

After dinner wee over and our teame had filled 
themeelyee, we hitched up and drove on. coming to the 
camp juet at dark. 1We found everything all right. 
The baby wee born and both mother and child were 
doing well. My wife cared for them both through the 
night and then turned in to her bed in our wagon and 
andwehitohedup anddroyeon. Thie.youwillre- 
membe r. wee eeyeral yeere before I etudied medicine. 
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All the pay my wife received was the thanks of 
the couple. who. like ourselves. were traveling with out 
money. She also had the satisfaction that a person 
feels in doing for others as they would like others to 
do fer them under similar circumstances. 

A few weeks later. while traveling down the 
Humboldt river. our party went into camp near another 
cluster of wagons. About ten o'clock an... my wife 
was again called upon to wait on another young woman 
about to be confined with her first child. 

The next morning, as our train was ab out to drive 
on, the young husband came to our wagon to thank 
my wife for the help she had rendered. He gave her 
a two and one-half dollar gold piece. We then drove 
on leaving mother and child both doing well. 

Twenty-one years later. after I had established 
the Sanitarium at St. Helena. I was called to wait on a 
woman who lived two miles from the Sanitarium. 
After her child was born and mother and child were 
both cared for. she told me that her first child was 
born in Nevada while she was coming overland to 
California. in 1359. We soon found that she was the 
woman my wife had assisted while camped on the 
banks of the Humboldt river. 

I will now go back and resume my narrative. 
About the time my wife took her mule-back ride, 

we entered a very desolate ragi on. Feed and wamr 
W e  very scarce and we had to make long drives 
without either. Many times the water was full of 
alkali. Many of the emigrants had some of their cat- 
tle sicken and die. We frequently had to drive until 
midnight to reach feed. On one occasion we started 
at 4 P.1d. and drove sixteen miles to a small spring. but 
found no feed. There was bunch grass back on the 
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mountain side from which we started at 4 Eli. but no 
water. We now had water that our oattle drank 
greedily, but no feed. This water was so foul that we 
eould neither drink it nor see]: with it. 

We let our teams rest an hour without unyolring 
them and then drove eighteen miles aeross a sage 
brush desert to the edge of an alkali flat, which we 
reached just afmr sunrise. Here we found a large 
boiling spring from which a stream two feet deep 
flowed. This water was so hot that a vast body of 
steam rose from the spring. We had to take our eattle 
many rods from the spring to find water cool enough 
for them to drink. There was not a spear of grass 
at this place, so we did not unyoke. We let the settle 
rest a eouple of hours, however. and then drove on 
across the alkali flat, which was eighteen miles across. 
This flat was as level as a house floor and its surfaee 
was as white as snow. being covered with a coat of. 
alkali. 

One of our Texas oaen showed symptoms of being 
alkalised when we started at 4 MI. the day before. 
He gave out and we had to leave him to die on that 
alkali field. 

The day was very hot, no clouds, no wind. no 
shade. We now had seven oxen left. Shelton drove 
the teams and I stayed behind to bring on the sick or. 
and his mate in case he got better. I stopped back an 
hour until I saw there was no prospect of saving him. 
I then left him to die and started on with the one loose 
on. I oould see the wagon three miles ahead. They ap. 
peared to be driving in water that was up to the hubs. 
I hurried on, hoping to find both water and grass. but 
when I got to the supposed water. I found only white 
alkali. Upon looking back, I saw a similar appearanoe 
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of water behind me. Itwas a mirage formed by the 
rays of the sun reflected from the alkali. This mirage 
shifted from place to place from 10 mm. until 4 v.11. 

We reached the far side of the flat an hour before 
sunset and came to the foot of a high range of moun- 
tains. We found good. sweet water in plenty at the 
foot of the mountains. but no feed. We had now driven 
fifty-two miles in twenty-seven hours. with no feed. 
We had sent a man ahead with the horse to hunt feed. 
We found him at the spring when we got in from the 
flat and he reported having found plenty of grass air: 
miles off the road up a very steep canyon. There were 
both feed and water there. So we unyolred and drove 
our cattle up there and rested two days. 

After leaving this camp. we found both feed and 
water very scarce and the road very bad on account 
of rocks. boulders, and dry ravines. We frequently 
had to drive until midnight and sometimes all night. 
Occasionally we came to a patch of tall bunch grass. 
In such cases. we cut a few bundles and took them 
along with us. 

We also had to carry a small supply of wood and 
drinking water. Some of the cattle got sick and died. 
This condition of things lasted for about ten days. 
until we reached the head waters of Humboldt River. 
after which we had feed. water and wood. Some of 
the cattle were so worn that four of the wagons had 
to lay by for a couple of days. the other six going on. 
Mr. Shelton's wagon was one of the four. The ten 
wagons got together again before we 1e ft the Humboldt. 
The Indiana on the Humboldt were very treacherous. 
occasionally attacking a small wagon train that sum- 
mer. The government had sent out a company of 
twenty-five soldiers to protect the emigrants. but they 
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could not guerd everyr point of the reed et the eeme 
time. Therefore the Indiene got eome of the eettle 
oeeeeionelly. One of their methode of eteeling e meroh 
on e emell bend wee ee followe: 

We eeme to e pleee where the river mede e wide 
bend. In this bend there were about two or three hun- 
dred eeree of good greee; neer the river it wee four 
feet high. One of our men eew en ea: or cow e helf e 
mile from the reed feeding in greee e foot high. We 
eould ell eee the on reiee hie heed oeeeeionellv end 
whiek hie tail to brush off the fliee. The men eeid, 
"Some emigrent hee loet en on. I will go end get it." 
He eterted for it. but ee he went toward it, it walked 
elow toward the tall greee end dieeppeered. The 
men kept on until en errew euddenlv whieeed peet hie 
heed. I-Ie thereupon fired e ehot into the greee where 
the on dieeppeered, whereupon en Indien jumped up 
end ren ofl’. On going to the epot, he found e dried 
on hide—herd end etifl‘. but eo dried end doubled ee to 
reeemble en on when en Indien eerried it over hie 
heed. The Indien hed reieed end lowered the heed end 
whieked the tail eo ee to make the skin reeemble e live 
or: leieurely feeding. 

While going down the Humboldt e little farther on 
end after the birth of the ehild previously mentioned. 
one of Shelton’e oxen got too ill to trevel end two 
othere ehowed e .vmptome of eiekneee. We were there- 
fore eompelled to etop behind. All the other wegone 
drove on end left no. The feed wee good. end by the 
third day we were eble to go on, but we bed to trevel 
by on reelvee, no other wegone having overtaken ue. 

The river mede e bend to the eouth end our reed 
left it, end, keeping weet, etruck e rolling deeert that 
required e week'e time in peeeing. We found e little 
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feed and water in places. We traveled all night one 
night on this stretch; The last ten miles were acm a 
low level bed of land without a green thing on it. The 
land was broken into chunks from one foot to three or 
four feet in size. The government had cleared a nar- 
row way through the lava so that we had no trouble. 
After traveling all night, we reached the lava bed in 
the morning. We got through it by 10 an. We drove 
over rough. barren land for two hours. and, to our sur- 

‘prise. came to a meadow of wild grass that resembled 
what we called “red top" when I was a boy. This grass 
was as thick as it could grow and nearly three feet 
high. The meadow was several miles across. We 
found a running stream of water near the road. also. 
It was now just mid day. We therefore unsp armed our 
cattle. intending to camp there until the next morning. 
I gathered wood. get water, fried pancakes for our 
dinner. we had nothing else to cook—and we ate our 
dinner. 

I was very weary. having walked and driven the 
team for twenty consecutive hours. so decided to have 
a good rest before washing up and putting away the 
dinner dishes. 

Shelton had complained of being ill and had ridden 
in the wagon all night and all the morning. After 
dinner he strolled away to keep the cattle together. 
while I rested. About 3 EH. he brought the cattle in. 
saying that he had just met a soldier who told him that 
our train was in camp about thirteen miles ahead of 
us. They told him of our being behind and sent word 
by him for us to hurry up and overtake them. Shelton 
said he did not feel well enough to walk and drive but 
he would like to go on and overtake our company if I 
would drive. My wife and I were both very anxious to 
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overtake our oompany for neither of us had any eon- 
lidenee in Shelton. We did not fear personal inj ury. 
as he had sold his pistol and big knife before our wagon 
was left to travel alone, and I knew he had no other 
weapons. I therefore said. "Yes, I will drive the 
team." 

I put our unwashed dinner dishes into a wash tub. 
yoked in the cattle. and drove on. and on. and on, until 
about three o’clock the neat morning, but saw no eamp 
nor any wagons. nor did I meet any person. At about 
3 Jail. I found that the road was leaving the valley and 
was about to lead up into a range of mountains that we 
had seen ahead of us for two days. I therefore roused 
Shelton from his sleep and told him the situation. He 
got up and looked around. We then deeided to stop 
right there until daylight 

We therefore turned the eattle loose to grass and 
then rolled up in our blankets and slept until sunrise. 
I then woke Mr. Shelton and told him that if he would 
look the cattle up, I would get breakfast. 0n getting 
up and looking ahead. we saw three log houses a 
quarter of a mile ahead of us. I immediately set about 
gathering wood and water. built a fire. washed up the 
dinner dishes of the previous day. and got the pan- 
cake dough ready to fry the cakes for breakfast. 

Instead of looking up the eattle. Shelton had gone 
of to the nearest log eabiu and had a short that with 
three men who now aooompanied him back to our 
wagon. 

"Haven't you got that breakfast ready?" said he 
in a very imperious tone. "No." said I. "You must 
remember that I had the wood and water to gather 
and our yesterday's dinner dishes to wash. You j uat 
take a turn around and see if you ean see the eattle. 
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but be back in ten minutes. I will have our cakes 
cooked by that thus." 

He evidently had been drinking at the cabin, for, 
uttering an oath, he picked up a bucket of water I had 
standing there, and threw the water on the fire, saying 
that I should have no breakfast until I had found the 
cattle. I said, “Mr. Shelton, you know it is your place 
tolookafterthecattle. Goand see i fyoucanfind 
them. I will get our breakfast and after breakfast, 
if you cannot find them, I will help hunt them up.“ 

He then went to look the cattle up and I pro- 
seeded to build another fire and get breakfast. I had 
just got a cake in the frying pan when he came back, 
and, with a fearful oath, asked if I was not going to 
look for the cattle. I was squatted down holding the 
frying pan over the fire, with my left hand, and I said, 
"Not until I have had my breakfast. You know we had 
no supper last night and that I drove the team from 
three o'clock yesterday and all night." He thereupon 
swore that I should have no breakfast until the cattle 
were found, and, picking up a bucket of water, he 
tbrewhalfof itinthe fire, and the rest inmyface, as 
I was squatted down. He had a willow stock in his 
hands. It was at least six feet long and an inch and a 
quarter thick at the butt. Swinging it around his 
head, he struck me a full blow on my head, then a 
second, a third and then a fourth. I said not a word, 
nor did I make a more of any kind, until he swung his 
club around to hit me the fifth time. I was sure the 
fourth blow had fractured my skull, and, when I saw 
the fifth blow coming, I raised my left arm and re- 
ceived the blow on it, between the elbow and the wrist. 
I had not expected a. second, a third, or a fourth blow, 
but, thinking each would be the last, had neither said 
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but be back in ten minutes. I will have our cakes 
cooked by that thus." 

He evidently had been drinking at the cabin, for, 
uttering an oath, he picked up a bucket of water I had 
standing there, and threw the water on the fire, saying 
that I should have no breakfast until I had found the 
cattle. I said, “Mr. Shelton, you know it is your place 
tolookafterthecattle. Goand see i fyoucanfind 
them. I will get our breakfast and after breakfast, 
if you cannot find them, I will help hunt them up.“ 

He then went to look the cattle up and I pro- 
seeded to build another fire and get breakfast. I had 
just got a cake in the frying pan when he came back, 
and, with a fearful oath, asked if I was not going to 
look for the cattle. I was squatted down holding the 
frying pan over the fire, with my left hand, and I said, 
"Not until I have had my breakfast. You know we had 
no supper last night and that I drove the team from 
three o'clock yesterday and all night." He thereupon 
swore that I should have no breakfast until the cattle 
were found, and, picking up a bucket of water, he 
tbrewhalfof itinthe fire, and the rest inmyface, as 
I was squatted down. He had a willow stock in his 
hands. It was at least six feet long and an inch and a 
quarter thick at the butt. Swinging it around his 
head, he struck me a full blow on my head, then a 
second, a third and then a fourth. I said not a word, 
nor did I make a more of any kind, until he swung his 
club around to hit me the fifth time. I was sure the 
fourth blow had fractured my skull, and, when I saw 
the fifth blow coming, I raised my left arm and re- 
ceived the blow on it, between the elbow and the wrist. 
I had not expected a. second, a third, or a fourth blow, 
but, thinking each would be the last, had neither said 
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him up and told him what he had seen Shelton do 
and that he came right down to learn from me how 
the trouble ooourred." Continuing, she said. “I told 
him what I had witnessed. He then wanted to know 
if we had had any trouble before this. I then told him all 
about how our oompany had voted to take everything 
out of Shelton’s hands and put them into your hands 
and to stand by us and see us safe through to Cali— 
fornia. He then said that there was an emigrant camp 
a few miles back. They were oamped some distanoe 
from the road, and we had passed them in the night." 
He thought it possible that our company might be 
there; he would send a man on horseback to find out, 
and. if they proved to be our oompany. and corrobo- 
rated her atory about the past trouble. he would have 
Shelton arrested and punished. 

After a moment’s reflection. I said. “That talk 
about his being Governor is all gammon. Why. we 
have not seen a white man's house in the last thirteen 
hundred miles until today and only three now. It is 
probable that Mr. Roupe is putting his foot in for 
the purpose of making something out of us. I have 
no oonfidenoe in him. He is only a fake Governor." 

Mrs. Kellogg then got some food for me and I 
soon felt mush betten although my head and arm 
hurt me severely. 

About noon. Mr. Shelton same to where I was 
lying and said, "Mr. Kellogg. I think our oompany is 
ahead of us. I would like to go on and overtake them. 
Ifyouarewillingtogoomilldoalltheworkof 
attending to and driving the team and you may ride 
all the way." 

Isawbyhislooksandactionsthathewaaeither 
very much humbled or very much frightened. So I 
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replied by saying. "Mr. Shelton. I am as anxious as 
youeanbetogetthroughtoCalifornia. Ifyouwiah 
to go on. I consent." 

He had brought the eattle in already. He now 
yoked up and we went on, he driving and I riding. 
Our road passed up into a thickly wooded mountain. 
through a shallow ravine eontaining a small brook of 
pure water. We drove eight miles to the head of the 
brook and camped for the night on the edge of a level 
prai rie, now called Mountain Meadows. The prairie 
was eight or ten miles across and was covered in every 
part with a fine growth of grass and was without 
timber or brush. There was heavy timber on every 
side of it, however. 

We eamped near the brook two hours before sun- 
down. Mr. Shelton unyoked the eattle and drove them 
away to graze a half mile from camp and remained 
there to herd them until they were well filled. He 
then brought the- in and staked them out. The yoke 
he got from me needed no stafing out. 

While he was away. I made the bed he and I were 
to oooupy on the ground but not under the wagon. I 
put my pistol and knife under my pillow. As I was 
making our bed. my wife said. "Merritt, I am afraid 
Shelton will kill you before morning. " "No." I said. 
“he will not. I am not afraid. You know he sold his 
knife and pistol back on the Humbolt. I have both of 
mine.andlmsureheisamwardandlsafraidqt 
me." 

When Shelton name in with the eattle, my wife 
had our supper all ready and we ate it just before dark. 
While we were eating. a wagon eame in from Cali- 
fornia loaded with supplies for the log cabin village 
we had left at noon. There was but one person with 
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the wagon, the driver, but his presence gave great 
relief to my wife. She now felt that Shelton would 
not do anything to me. 

Mr. Shelton and I slept together on the ground 
that night, and every night thereafter, until the last 
night of our journey. We neither of us spoke to each 
other of our trouble after he ran off in fear of my 
pistol. No person traveling with us would have mis- 
u-usted from our actions toward each other that we 
had ever had any trouble. 

We left camp the next morning and proceeded 
across the prairie and camped at night alone, on an- 
other very small grass plot. Waking up the next 
morning, we found our bed and the ground covered 
with a half inch of snow. We had discarded the tent 
and left it behind six: or eight weeks previously, when 
we had passed all danger of rains. 

Our wagon traveled alone four days, when we 
were overtaken by all of the nine wagons, the thirty- 
eight men, and the thm women and six or seven chil- 
dren of our party. They came into camp after dark. 

Mr. Ide, of whom I have previously spoken as hav- 
ing championed my cause in our first trouble, came to 
me and asked me to tell him all about our late trouble. 
I did so. He then told me that Mr. Roupe had been 
elected Governor by the miners and that he sent a man 
to them to make inquiries about the previous trouble 
of which my wife had told him. Mr. Ide further said 
that the man told him all about our trouble at Susan- 
ville, as the place where it occurred was called. The 
company thereupon hitched up and drove to Susan- 
ville that evening, but found we had left. They 
learned there that Mr. Shelton had found out that 
GovernorRoupehadscntamanbacktolookforour 
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many and to make inquiry about our first trouble. 
and that, if he found my wife's story true, he would 
have Shelton arrested, tried and punished. When 
Shelton learned what the Governor was doing. he was 
anxious to get out of his reach and so want on. 

Mr. Ide also told me that when the company 
learned all that had occurred at Susanville, they voted 
to take Shelton and horsep him if they overtook us, 
I begged them not to do this, for he had given me no 
trouble since we left Susanville, and so the matter 
dropped. 

Our read now lay over very high mountains and 
down a deep valley, but we found plenty of feed and 
good water and were in heavihr-wooded mountains all 
the way through the Sierra Mountains, which we were 
now erossing. A very few days later, while travel- 
ing along the top of a wide ridge, with Butte Creek 
flowing far below us on our right, and Feather River 
below us on ourleft, we eametoaturnoftheroadon 
one point of the ridge. from which we would look 
down into the valley of the Sacramento River, twenty- 
flve miles west of us. We eould trace the river by the 
timber growing along its banks. The valley appeared 
to be, and really was. fifty or sixty miles, and was 
bare of timber as far as the eye :3o see either north 
or south. except. along the river banks and along the 
banks of the streams flowing into it. 

The sight of this valley was a very pleasant seene 
to wife and me. We felt that our present troubles were 
nearly over and that whatever ill might betide us in the 
future eould not be worse than that through which an 
Unseen Hand had led us. and preserved us for the past 
five months. 
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It was Friday morning. the seoond Friday in 
September. we drove with the oompany three miles 
farther. All of the wagons but Shelton’s then took a 
right hand road leading directly toward the Snow 
mento River. Hr. Shelton’s oontraot with me required 
him to land us in Harysville. so he took the left hand 
road from Dogtown. where we parted oompany with 
me rest of our party again. Shelton and my family 
eamped at a little village, in the edge of the great 
valley. intending to stop over Sunday. but Sabbath 
morning he woke me up soon after sunrise. telling me 
that he was not going to Marysville. He said the 
Marysviile stage would be along in one hour and he had 
paid our passage to Marysvflle on it. We could go on 
or stay where we were. He had a shame to sell his 
toamandwagon and was goingto sellthem. 

Webadnoalternaflvebnttogoomsoanhour 
later we were aboard the stage for Marysviile. sixty 
miles distant, which place we reached at 12 ”I. and 
thus ended my trip across the plains in 1359. I have 
omitted many inoidents that were interesting but on- 
important, such as the killing of four rattlesnakes in 
one of the tents by one of our party as we were samp- 
ing for the night. Also. how my little Charles. only 
two and a half years old, was found one noon. trying 
to kill a rattlesnake with a small stick and the snake 
instead of fighting back ran ofi. but was killed by the 
young girl. aged fourteen, who first saw what Charles 
was doing. When I told him he must not try to kill 
the snake. he said, “The mans do so." I have said 
but little of Anna, my step-daughter, then aged eleven. 
She was a good girl and very helpful to her mother, 
and obedient to me. She lived with us here in Cali- 
fornia until about nineteen years of age, then went to 
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live with on unquqsi ntsnee. a hundred milfi away. She 
married s good but poor young men. Finally she be- 
come affected with tuberculosis and died at our home 
in Hesldeburg, in 1371 or 1372. Her brother. Alvin. 
whom we left in Elkhorn City. afterward eommitted 
suieide in San Jose, this state. He lies buried beside 
his sister: Charles died in 1839,r leasing s wife and one 
ehild,sdsughter. Mywifediediuloslmgeles, Hey 
I. 1874, while I was in Australis. 

FIHIE 
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